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PART I

 
ITEM 1.        BUSINESS
 
General
 

Forward Industries, Inc. (“Forward”, “we”, “our” or the “Company”), through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Forward Industries (IN), Inc. (“Forward
US”), Forward Industries (Switzerland) GmbH (“Forward Switzerland”), Forward Industries UK Limited (“Forward UK”), Intelligent Product Solutions, Inc.
(“IPS”), and Kablooe, Inc. (“Kablooe”), is a fully integrated design, development and manufacturing solution provider for top tier medical and technology
customers worldwide. We have expanded our ability to design and develop solutions for our existing multinational client base and expand beyond the diabetic
product line into a variety of industries with a full spectrum of hardware and software product design and engineering services.  In addition to our existing
design and distribution of carry and protective solutions, primarily for handheld electronic devices, we are now a one-stop shop for design, development and
manufacturing solutions serving a wide range of clients in the industrial, commercial and consumer industries. We are now able to introduce proprietary
products to the market from concepts brought to us from a number of different sources, both inside and outside the Company.

 
The principal customer market in our distribution line of business has been original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) or the contract manufacturing

firms of these OEM customers, that either package our products as accessories “in box” together with their branded product offerings or sell them through their
retail distribution channels. Our OEM products include carrying cases and other accessories for medical monitoring and diagnostic kits and a variety of other
portable electronic and non-electronic products such as sporting and recreational products, bar code scanners, smartphones, GPS location devices, tablets and
firearms. Our OEM customers are located in the Asia-Pacific region, which we refer to as the “APAC Region”, Europe, the Middle East, and Africa, which we
refer to as the “EMEA Region” and the geographic area encompassing North America, Central America and South America, which we refer to as the
“Americas”.

 
In 2019, we invested in and began to build out a retail distribution network responsible for getting various products into big box retailers for retail

consumption. This build out is a continuation of our strategy to be a one-stop shop for product development, manufacture and distribution solutions and
represents a significant achievement in completing the strategic process of taking a product from concept to the consumer. The rollout of these products has
been delayed by COVID-19 as discussed below. Our retail customers are generally located in the Americas. As we continued to expand our retail distribution
network in 2020 and 2021, we have been able to sell a variety of products through retailers such as Best Buy, Wayfair, Walmart, Costco, and Amazon. The
manufacturer representative model allows us to engage and support a large sales team and cover a larger territory with a variable cost model as these
representatives work on commission only.

 
We do not manufacture any of our products and source substantially all our products from independent suppliers in China through Forward Industries Asia-

Pacific Corporation, a British Virgin Islands corporation (“Forward China”). Forward China is owned by the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer. The sale and distribution of products to OEM and retail customers is referred to in this report as our “distribution” line of business. We use the term
“design” or “design and development” to describe the IPS and Kablooe engineering services line of business.

 
The outbreak of the COVID-19 virus continues to impact our results of operations. While the most significant impact was in Fiscal 2020, the virus

continued to impact our results of operations in Fiscal 2021. The business shutdowns resulting from the pandemic disrupted our supply chain and the
manufacture or shipment of our products and delayed the rollout of our retail products. Additionally, demand for our design and development services was
reduced or delayed as a result of the pandemic as certain customers reduced discretionary spending. While revenues for Fiscal 2021 increased as compared to
Fiscal 2020, they were lower than anticipated due in part to the impact of COVID-19 and the resulting economic conditions. The impact of lower than
anticipated revenue was further complicated by a significant increase in freight costs due to the global shipping container shortage. These challenges were
partially offset by a reduction in certain selling and travel related expenses.

 
Many government restrictions have been relaxed and the economy has continued to open in more jurisdictions. However, the emergence of new and

transmittable variants of COVID-19 could lead to a possible resurgence of the virus, particularly in populations with low vaccination rates, and has resulted in
new restrictions in certain geographies and among certain businesses. The long-term financial impact on our business cannot be reasonably estimated at this
time. As a result, the effects of COVID-19 may not be fully reflected in our financial results until future periods. Refer to “Part I, Item 1A — Risk Factors” for
a description of the material risks that we currently face in connection with COVID-19.
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Until the pandemic is fully controlled, we expect business conditions to remain challenging.  In response to these challenges, we will continue to focus on

those factors that we can control: closely managing and controlling our expenses; aligning our design and development schedules with demand in a proactive
manner as there are changes in market conditions to minimize our cash operating costs; pursuing further improvements in the productivity and effectiveness of
our development, selling and administrative activities and, where appropriate, taking advantage of opportunities to enhance our business growth and strategy.
To help mitigate the impact of these challenging business conditions, we implemented cost-cutting initiatives and reduced executive pay and Board of Directors
compensation for the three months ended June 30, 2021. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section of Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for further description of these cost-cutting measures.

  
Corporate History
 

Forward was incorporated in 1961 as a manufacturer and distributer of advertising specialty and promotional products. In 1989, we acquired Forward US,
a manufacturer of soft-sided carrying cases. The carrying case business became our predominant business, and in September 1997, we sold the assets relating
to the production of advertising specialty and promotional products, ceasing to operate in that segment.

 
In May 2001, we formed Forward Switzerland to facilitate distribution of aftermarket products under our licenses for cell phone cases with a major North

American multinational and to further develop our OEM European business presence. After the expiration of the last of these licenses in March 2009, staff at
Forward Switzerland was significantly reduced and in recent years has primarily served our OEM customers in Europe.

 
In January 2018, Forward acquired IPS, an engineering design company, and in August 2020, Forward acquired the assets of Kablooe Design, a medical

and consumer design and development company. We believe that the design and engineering service capabilities of Kablooe will complement the IPS business
and further diversify the industries and customers with which we do business.

 
Customers
 

Our OEM distribution customers are located in the APAC Region, the EMEA Region and the Americas. Our retail distribution customers are
predominantly located in the Americas.

 
Our design business provides product development services for Fortune 500 companies, established mid-level companies, and start-ups. The wide range of

industries served includes industrial electronics, medical and dental equipment, food/beverage, certain luxury brands, and oil/gas. Our design customers are
located primarily in the Americas.
 
Products
 

Our products include carrying cases and other accessories for medical monitoring and diagnostic kits and a variety of other portable electronic and non-
electronic products (such as sporting and recreational products, bar code scanners, smartphones, GPS location devices, tablets, and firearms). In Fiscal 2020
and 2021, our products also include smart-enabled furniture and a variety of other products sold through our retail distribution network. We do not manufacture
any of our products and we source substantially all our products from independent suppliers in China through Forward China, a related party (see Note 14 to
the consolidated financial statements).

 
Diabetic Products
 

We sell carrying cases for blood glucose diagnostic kits (“Diabetic Products”) directly to OEM customers, or their contract manufacturers. These electronic
monitoring kits are made for use by diabetics. The diabetic products customer (or its contract manufacturer) packages our carry cases “in box” as a custom
accessory for the customer’s blood glucose testing and monitoring kits, or to a much lesser extent, sells them through their retail distribution channels. These
kits typically include a small, electronic blood glucose monitor, testing strips, lancets for drawing a drop of blood and our carrying case, customized with the
manufacturer’s logo and designed to fit and secure the glucose monitor, testing strips, and lancets in separate straps, pouches, and holders. As the kits and
technology change, our carrying case designs change to accommodate the changes in size, shape and layout of the electronic monitoring device, strips and
lancet.
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Other Products
 

We also sell carrying and protective solutions to customers for a diverse array of other portable electronic and other products, including sporting and
recreational products, bar code scanners, smartphones, GPS and location devices, tablets, and firearms, on a made-to-order basis that are customized to fit the
products sold by our customers. Our selling prices for these products also vary across a broad range, depending on the size and nature of the product for which
we design and sell the carry solution.

 
Retail Products
 

In Fiscal 2020, as a result of the build out and growth of our retail distribution network, we began selling smart-enabled products, such as speakers and
lamps that provide lighting and sound with Bluetooth® connectivity. In Fiscal 2021, we expanded our retail product offerings to include additional smart-
enabled furniture, such as desks and side tables, as well as hot tubs and various other products.

 
Our design business provides a complete range of design, engineering and development services with respect to a diverse array of consumer and industrial

electronics products. These include but are not limited to medical products, smart displays, beverage vending, enterprise and mobile software applications,
lighting, security and detections systems, cameras, wearables and vehicle controls. Solutions in these and other areas are designed and developed in-house,
beginning at product concept, extending through design, engineering and prototype, and final design for manufacturing and computer-aided design files. As a
combined company, we are able to provide manufacturing sourcing and final product support and delivery services for initial short-run, low volume products.

 
Product Development
 

In the OEM division, we typically receive requests to submit product designs in connection with a customer’s introduction and rollout to market of a new
product. We collaborate with clients to determine functionality, size and other basic specifications and requirements for products. Our design and production
resources develop more detailed product specifications and design options for our customers’ evaluation. We provide documentation of each phase to the client
and gain approval of a working prototype. Working with our suppliers and the customer, samples are modified and refined. Once approved for commercial
introduction and order by our customer, we work with our suppliers to ensure conformity of commercial production to the definitive product samples and
specifications. Manufacture and delivery of products in production quantities are coordinated with the customer’s manufacturing and shipment schedules so
that our products are available to be packaged with the customer’s additional product components prior to shipment and sale, or to make the product available
to the customer for direct sale through its retail distribution channels.   

 
In the retail division, we work with various retailers to understand their product requirements and utilize our sourcing resources to obtain products.

Additionally, we have a portfolio of retail products that we share with retailers to gauge the level of consumer interest.
 

Services
 

Services offered for each engagement vary from full development utilizing a wide range of in-house design and engineering functions, to targeted design
and engineering support for clients with in-house development teams. Our in-house capabilities include the following:
 
 · Electrical Engineering
 
 · Mechanical Engineering
 
 · Software Engineering
 
 · Industrial Design
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 · User Experience/User Interface (UX/UI) Design and Development
 
 · Optical Engineering
 
 · Program Management
 
 · IoT System Architecture
 
 · Marketing
 
Distribution
 
Channels of Distribution
 

We primarily ship our OEM distribution products directly to our customers (or their contract manufacturers), who package our accessory products “in box”
with their branded products. Some of our customers also purchase certain of our products and offer them for sale as stand-alone accessories to complement
their product offerings.

 
We primarily ship our retail distribution products directly to customers from one of our distribution centers located in the U.S. We may also ship certain

retail products directly to some larger retailers. We continue to invest in and build out a distribution network for retail products as we expect this part of our
business to grow in the future. The retail distribution network is responsible for placing products with major retailers for consumption both in store and online.

 
Distribution Hubs for Customers
 

We have arrangements with certain customers’ distribution hubs. These arrangements obligate us to supply our products to our customers’ distribution hubs
where their products are manufactured, kitted, and/or warehoused pending sale, and where our products are packaged “in box” with the distribution customers’
products. The product quantities we are required to supply to each distribution hub are based on the distribution customer’s purchase orders and forecasts. We
do not recognize revenue for product shipped to a customer’s hub until we have been notified by our customer that our product has been withdrawn or used by
the distribution hub. Hub arrangements have had the general effect of providing financing for our customers’ inventory purchases by extending the time
between our placement of orders to our suppliers in order to ship and supply the hubs and the time that we are able to recognize revenue. The corollary effect is
an increase in our inventory levels.

 
Third-Party Warehouses

 
We also have arrangements with third-party warehouses in the U.S. to store, manage and ship our retail products. We do not recognize revenue for retail

products shipped to any of these warehouses until the product has been shipped to the end-user customer.
 

Product Supply
 
Manufacturing
 

The manufacture of custom carrying cases and other carry and protective solutions generally consists of die cutting fabrics and heat sealing, gluing,
sewing, and affixing logos to the cut-outs by means of silk screening, hot-stamping, embroidering or embossing. The principal materials used in the
manufacture of our products are vinyl, nylon, leather, metal and plastic parts (for clips, buckles, loops, hinges and other hardware), foam padding and
cardboard, all of which are obtained from suppliers based on our specifications.
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The manufacture of smart furniture consists of laser cutting, punching, welding and powder coating the various parts and finished product, including

lamination, board cutting and drilling for certain products. The main materials used include particle board, engineered wood composite, tempered glass and
metal. The manufacture of certain other retail products includes mold creation and assembly and uses various plastics and light components.

 
We do not believe that any of the component materials or parts used in the manufacture of our products are supply constrained. We believe that there are

adequate available alternative sources of supply for all of the materials used to manufacture, package, and ship our products.
 

Dependence on Sourcing Agent
 

We have a Buying Agency and Supply Agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with Forward China. The Supply Agreement provides that Forward China
acts as our exclusive buying agent for the products we sell. Forward China also arranges for sourcing, manufacture and exportation of such products. We
purchase products at Forward China’s cost and pay them a service fee calculated at $100,000 monthly plus 4% of “Adjusted Gross Profit”, which is defined as
the selling price less the cost from Forward China. The Supply Agreement has been extended to October 22, 2023. Terence Wise, our Chairman, Chief
Executive Officer and largest shareholder, is the owner of Forward China. See “Item 1A. – Risk Factors” regarding our dependence on Forward China.

 
Suppliers
 

We procure substantially all our distribution OEM and distribution products from independent suppliers in China through Forward China. Depending on
the product, we may require several different suppliers to furnish component parts or pieces. We place orders for particular products and do not have minimum
supply requirement agreements to guarantee a supply of finished product, nor have we made purchase commitments to purchase minimum amounts. However,
from time to time, we may order products in advance of receiving a customer purchase order, or in quantities in excess of those forecasted to us by our
customer, for which they are contractually obligated to us, in order to meet our customers’ anticipated delivery demands.

 
There are very few suppliers required for the design segment of the business as it is a service-based business. We do, however, purchase supplies and

equipment to develop prototypes required or “mock-ups” for design and development projects. Design business suppliers are predominantly based in the
United States.

 
Quality Assurance
 

Forward’s quality assurance manager oversees the process to ensure that our distribution products manufactured in China meet our quality assurance
standards. He independently verifies and supervises the inspection of products provided by independent contractors in China. In July 2015, Forward China
received its ISO 9001:2008 quality certification, which was renewed and is valid until July 2024.

 
Our design business follows general industry standard practices for review and corrective actions related to its design services. There are no independent

quality assurance standards in place for its design and engineering work. Customer specifications and scope of services are laid out in the project contracts and
we work closely with the customer to identify and correct any quality issues that arise.

 
Competition
 
Distribution Business
 

Our OEM and retail distribution businesses are highly competitive in terms of product pricing, design, delivery terms, and customer service. In the
production of our distribution products, we compete with numerous U.S. and foreign producers and distributors. Some of our competitors are substantially
larger than we are and have greater financial and other resources. We believe that we sustain our competitive position through maintenance of an effective
product design capability, rapid response time to customer requests for proposals and product shipment, reliable product delivery and product quality, and
competitive pricing. We believe that our ability to compete based on product quality assurance considerations is enhanced by Forward China’s local presence,
quality control, shipment capabilities and expertise in sourcing.
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Design and Engineering Business
 

The depth and breadth of the services offered and industries served by our design segment are unique. Our management team is aware that there are very
few competitive firms that have the full set of capabilities that our design segment has under one roof. There are, however, numerous design and engineering
companies that compete with us in specific industries and/or with specific targeted skills or competitive advantages.

 
Human Capital/Employees
 

Our key human capital management objectives are to attract, retain and develop the highest quality talent. To support these objectives, our human
resources programs are designed to:

 
· develop talent to prepare them for critical roles and leadership positions for the future;
· reward and support employees through competitive pay and benefits;
· enhance our culture through efforts aimed at making the workplace more engaging and inclusive;
· acquire talent and facilitate internal talent mobility to create a high-performing and diverse workforce.

 
None of our employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement. As of November 30, 2021, we employed approximately 90 employees. We hire

consultants on an as-needed basis.
 

Regulation and Environmental Protection
 

Our retail and OEM distribution businesses are subject to various regulations in various jurisdictions, including the U.S. and member states of the
European Union, that restrict the use or importation of products manufactured with compounds deemed to be hazardous. We work with our suppliers to ensure
compliance with such regulations. In addition, from time to time, one or more customers may require testing of our products to ensure compliance with
applicable consumer safety rules and regulations or the customer’s safety or packaging protocols. Because we do not manufacture the products that we sell and
distribute, compliance with federal, state and local laws and regulations pertaining to the discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to
the protection of the environment, has not had, and is not anticipated to have, any direct material effect upon our capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive
position. However, compliance with such laws and regulations on the part of our suppliers may result in increased costs of supply to us, particularly if domestic
environmental regulations in China become more prevalent.

 
We have not been engaged in any environmental litigation or incurred any material costs related to compliance with environmental or other regulations.

From time to time, we incur chemical and/or safety laboratory testing expenses in order to address customer requests regarding our product materials or method
of manufacture or regarding their packaging methods and standards.

 
There are no specific regulatory or environmental requirements imposed upon the design segment of our business. As a paid service provider, customers

are assisted in securing regulatory certifications including UL (Underwriters Laboratories – a U.S. based safety certification organization), FCC (Federal
Communications Commission – U.S. governmental certification department for electronic goods), CE (Conformité Européenne – a European certification for
health, safety and environmental protection standards) and others depending on needs, product types and locations of customers’ product markets.
 
Available Information
 

Our corporate website is www.ForwardIndustries.com. On our website under “Investors” "SEC Filings", we make available access to our Annual Reports
on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, Proxy Statements on Schedule 14A and amendments to those materials filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), free of charge. The contents of the website are not
incorporated into this filing.
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ITEM 1A.     RISK FACTORS
 

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risk factors before deciding whether to purchase
or sell stock in the Company. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or that we currently deem immaterial, may also impair our business
operations or our financial condition. If any of the events discussed below occur, our business, consolidated financial condition, results of operations or
prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In such case, the value and marketability of the common stock could decline.
 
Risks Relating to Our Business, Liquidity and Operations
 
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and measures intended to prevent its spread have had, and may continue to have, a material and adverse effect on our
business and results of operations. 
 

Global health concerns relating to the COVID-19 pandemic and related government actions taken to reduce the spread of the virus have been weighing on
the macroeconomic environment, and the pandemic has significantly increased economic uncertainty and reduced economic activity. Small businesses, which
represent a large portion of our design customers, have been impacted particularly hard. The pandemic has resulted in government authorities and businesses
implementing numerous measures to try to contain the virus, such as travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter in place or total lock-down orders, school
closures, and business limitations and shutdowns. Such measures have contributed significantly to increased unemployment and negatively impacted consumer
and business spending. Business shutdowns have disrupted our supply chain and the manufacture or shipment of our products and delayed the rollout of our
retail distribution products.

 
The pandemic has caused us to modify our business practices to help minimize the risk of the virus to our employees, our customers, and the communities

in which we participate, which could negatively impact our business. We continue to permit employees to work remotely, which subjects the Company to
increased cybersecurity risks and may reduce workplace efficiency. As the availability of vaccines increased and COVID-19 case rates diminished, we
gradually re-opened our offices. We continue to employ additional safety measures in our offices, including enhanced cleaning and sanitation, mask wearing,
suspending international business travel for our employees and limiting domestic business travel, limiting external guests visiting our offices, and holding most
meetings and events virtually. Local conditions may require us to move back under more restrictive guidelines, which could include mandatory remote work
and additional safety measures. Given the continually evolving situation, including new variants, there is no certainty that the measures we have taken will be
sufficient to mitigate the risks posed by the virus.

 
The full extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic will continue to impact our business, results of operations, and financial condition remains uncertain and

will depend on developments that remain uncertain and difficult to predict, including, but not limited to, the duration and spread of the pandemic, its severity,
the actions to contain the virus or treat its impact, the availability, distribution and efficacy of vaccines, and acceptance by the population to get the vaccine and
how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions resume. Even after the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may experience
material and adverse impacts to our business as a result of the virus’s global economic impact, including the availability of credit, bankruptcies or insolvencies
of customers, and recession or economic downturn.

 
Any of the issues discussed above could have a material adverse effect on our business if this continues for an extended period of time. If we incur

significant declines in customer orders, increased aging of accounts receivable or other negative consequences due to COVID-19, the extent of which remains
highly uncertain, it will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 
During Fiscal 2021, we generated an operating loss and negative cash flow from operations. We cannot assure you that we will regain profitability in the
future.
 

In Fiscal 2021, we generated an operating loss of approximately $765,000 and had net cash used in operating activities of approximately $528,000. We can
provide no assurance that we will not continue to experience operating losses. In addition to our $1,300,000 commercial line of credit (the “Line of Credit”),
none of which has been utilized as of the date of this report, Forward China holds a $1,600,000 note which is due December 31, 2022. Forward China, which is
owned by our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, has previously agreed to extend this note numerous times to assist the Company with its
liquidity resources. We cannot provide you with any assurance that Forward China will continue to grant us extensions on this note. If we cannot generate
sufficient revenues to operate profitably, we may be forced to cease, limit or suspend operations, or we may be required to raise capital to maintain or grow our
operations. There is no assurance that we will be able to raise such capital and if so on terms that are not onerous and dilutive to the Company and its
shareholders. While we believe that our existing cash resources are sufficient to support our growth strategy, there can be no assurances that our growth
strategy will be successful or that we will earn a return on these investments.
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Our OEM distribution business remains highly concentrated in our diabetic products line. If our diabetic products line were to suffer the loss of a principal
customer or a material decline in revenues from any such large customer, our business would be materially and adversely affected.
 

Revenues from diabetic products accounted for 86% of our OEM distribution net revenues in Fiscal 2021. As a result, our financial condition and results of
operations are subject to higher risk from the loss of a major diabetic products customer or changes in their business practices. For example, in 2018 a new
diabetes monitoring product was brought to the market which does not use a carrying case. If our customers use new solutions in their diabetes product lines
that do not use carrying cases, our business would be materially and adversely affected.

 
The loss of any of, or a material reduction in orders from, our largest customers would materially and adversely affect our results of operations and financial
condition.
 

Our OEM distribution business is and has been characterized by a high degree of customer concentration. Our four largest distribution customers
accounted for 85% and 83% of OEM distribution net revenues in Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, respectively. Although we continue our efforts to diversify our
business, we cannot provide any assurance that we will be successful. The loss of any of these customers would have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, liquidity and results of operations.

 
If any one or more of our OEM distribution customers elect to reduce or discontinue inclusion of cases “in box”, our results of operations and financial
condition would be materially and adversely affected.
 

The predominant percentage of our OEM distribution revenues is derived from sales of case accessories to our OEM customers who package our cases “in
box” with their electronics. During recent years, there have been numerous federal legislative and administrative actions that have affected government
programs, including adjustments that have reduced or increased payments to healthcare providers and patients. Any measures to restrict healthcare spending
could result in decreased sales of our products. If one or more of our distribution customers reduce or discontinue the practice of including carry case
accessories “in box” or if our customers experience reduced demand for their products as a result of political changes, we may incur a significant decline in our
revenues and our results of operations and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.

 
Rising threats of international tariffs, including tariffs applied to goods between the U.S. and China, may materially and adversely affect our business.
 

Rising threats of international tariffs, including tariffs applied to goods traded between the U.S. and China, could materially and adversely affect our
business and results of operations. Since the beginning of 2018, there has been increasing rhetoric, in some cases coupled with legislative or executive action,
from several U.S. and foreign leaders regarding the possibility of instituting tariffs on the foreign imports of certain materials and products. More specifically,
throughout 2020 and 2019, the U.S. and China imposed tariffs or announced proposed tariffs to be applied in the future to certain of each other’s exports. As of
the date of this report, the Company had not been directly affected by any tariffs previously implemented by former President Trump on the medical technology
industry. However, we do not know if the new administration will implement any. If any such tariffs or any restrictions are imposed on products that we import
to our customers, we would be required to raise our prices, which may result in the loss of customers and harm our business. Additionally, some of our non-
diabetic distribution customers and customers in the design and development business have been affected by these tariffs, specifically those who manufacture
electronic products. This may cause these customers to reduce the amount of discretionary spending they use on outsource product design and engineering
services supplied by our design segment.

 
Changes in political conditions in China and changes in the state of China-U.S. relations, including any tensions relating to potential military conflict

between China and Taiwan, are difficult to predict and could adversely affect the operations or financial condition of the Company. In addition, because of our
involvement in the Chinese market, any deterioration in political or trade relations might cause a public perception in the U.S. or elsewhere that might cause
our business to become less attractive. Such an impact could adversely affect our revenues and cash flows.
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We continue to encounter pressure from our largest OEM distribution customers to maintain or even decrease prices, or to supply lower priced carry solutions,
and expect such pressure to persist. The effects of such price constraints on our business may be exacerbated by inflationary pressures that affect our costs of
supply.
 

During Fiscal 2021, we continued to experience significant pricing pressure from our largest OEM distribution customers to reduce the prices we charge
them. When we are unable to extract comparable concessions from our suppliers on prices they charge us, our product sales margins erode. In addition,
competitors may reduce their average selling prices faster than we are able to reduce costs, which can also accelerate the rate of decline of our selling prices.

 
In addition to margin compression from customers in general, we are encountering increased pricing from our Chinese suppliers who are reacting to

inflationary increases in materials and labor costs incurred by them. In addition, prices that our Chinese vendors charge to us may reflect appreciation of the
Chinese currency against the U.S. dollar, which can be passed through to us in the form of higher U.S. dollar prices. This in turn will tend to reduce gross profit
if we are unable to raise our prices. Any decrease in demand for our products, coupled with pressure from the market and our customers to decrease our prices,
would materially adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
Increasingly, our OEM distribution customers are requesting that we enter into supply agreements with them that have restrictive terms and conditions. These
agreements typically include provisions that increase our financial exposure, which could result in significant costs to us.
 

Increasingly, our OEM distribution customers are requesting that we enter into supply agreements with them. These agreements typically do not include
volume commitments but do include provisions that generally serve to increase our exposure for product liability and limited sales returns, which could result
in higher costs to us as a result of such claims. In addition, these agreements typically contain provisions that seek to limit our operational and pricing
flexibility and extend payment terms, which could materially adversely affect our cash flow, business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
Our distribution business depends on a single exclusive buying agent who, in turn, depends on a limited number of key suppliers.
 

Our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and largest shareholder is the owner of Forward China, our exclusive sourcing agent in the Asia Pacific region. We
have entered into a Buying Agency and Supply Agreement with Forward China whereby Forward China will act as the Company’s exclusive agent to arrange
for sourcing, manufacturing and exporting the Company’s distribution products. Historically, Forward China has relied on a limited number of suppliers to
supply the component parts and pieces necessary for the production of our carry and protective solutions products. As a result, our ability to effectively push
back against rising material costs may diminish, although historically Forward China has absorbed these costs. In addition, any inability to obtain supplies from
a single or limited number of suppliers may result in difficulty obtaining the supplies necessary for our business and may restrict our ability to produce our
carry and protective solutions products. Where practical, we intend to establish alternative sources through Forward China to mitigate the risk that the failure of
any single supplier will adversely affect our business. Nevertheless, either a prolonged inability to obtain certain components or the failure of one of our
suppliers to do so could impair our ability to ship products and generate revenues, which could adversely affect our operating results and damage our customer
relationships.

 
In addition, we depend significantly on Forward China as our exclusive buying agent for substantially all of our component parts. As a result, we have

limited visibility as to our supplier base, making it difficult to forecast future events and to plan our operations. In addition, if Forward China fails to
satisfactorily perform its obligations, including payment obligations, to our suppliers or its duties to us as our exclusive buying agent as a result of financial or
other difficulties or for any other reason, or if our relationship with Forward China was to suffer or we are unable to extend our agreement with Forward China
which expires in October 2023, we could suffer irreparable harm resulting in substantial harm to the distribution business.

 
Our OEM distribution business has benefited from customers deciding to outsource their carry and protective solutions assembly needs to us. If our OEM
distribution customers choose to provide these services in-house or select other providers, our OEM distribution business could suffer.
 

Our future OEM distribution revenue growth partially depends on new outsourcing opportunities from our OEM distribution customers. Current and
prospective customers continuously evaluate our performance against other providers. They also evaluate the potential benefits of manufacturing their products
themselves. To the extent that outsourcing opportunities are not available either due to these customers deciding to produce these products themselves or to use
other providers, our financial results and future growth could be materially adversely affected.
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If we are unable to provide our customers with high-quality products and service or if we are unable to deliver our products and/or service to our distribution
customers in a timely manner, our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially adversely affected.
 

In order to maintain our existing customer base and obtain business from new customers, we must demonstrate our ability to produce our products and
services at the level of quality, responsiveness, timeliness, and cost that our customers require. If our products or services are provided at what customers
believe are of a substandard quality, if they are not delivered on time, if we are not responsive to our customers’ demands or cannot meet their needs, our
reputation as a reliable supplier of our products and a sophisticated product designer and developer would likely be damaged. If we are unable to meet
anticipated product and service standards, we may be unable to obtain new or keep our existing distribution customers, and this would have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
 
If our design teams fail to complete a project in a timely manner, miss a required performance standard, or otherwise fail to adequately perform on a project,
then we may incur a loss on that project.
 

Our design engagements often involve large-scale, complex projects. The quality of our performance on such projects depends in large part upon our
ability to manage the relationship with our clients and our ability to effectively manage the project and deploy appropriate resources, including third-party
contractors and our own personnel, in a timely manner. We may commit to a client that we will complete a project by a scheduled date and/or at a fixed fee. We
may also commit that a project, when completed, will achieve specified performance standards. If the project is not completed by the scheduled date or fails to
meet required performance standards, we may incur significant additional costs or be held responsible for the costs incurred by the client to rectify damages
due to late completion or failure to achieve the required performance standards. The uncertainty of the timing of a project can present difficulties in planning
the amount of personnel needed for the project. If the project is delayed or canceled, we may bear the cost of an underutilized workforce that was dedicated to
fulfilling the project. In addition, performance of projects can be affected by a number of factors beyond our control, including unavoidable delays from
government inaction, inability to obtain financing, weather conditions, unavailability of vendor materials, changes in the project scope of services requested by
our clients, industrial accidents, environmental hazards, and labor disruptions. To the extent these events occur, the total costs of the project could exceed our
estimates, and we could experience reduced profits or, in some cases, incur a loss on a project, which may reduce or eliminate our overall profitability on that
project. Further, any defects or errors, or failures to meet our clients’ expectations, could result in claims for damages against us. Failure to meet performance
standards or complete performance on a timely basis could also adversely affect our reputation.

 
Our results of operations could suffer if we are not able to maintain adequate utilization of our workforce.

 
The cost of providing our design services, including the extent to which we utilize our workforce, affects our profitability. The rate at which we utilize

our workforce is affected by a number of factors, including:
 
· our ability to transition employees from completed projects to new assignments and to hire and assimilate new employees;

 
· our ability to forecast demand for our services and thereby maintain an appropriate headcount in each of our operating units;

 
· our ability to engage employees in assignments during natural disasters or pandemics;

 
· our ability to manage attrition;

 
· our need to devote time and resources to training, business development, professional development, and other non-chargeable activities; and

 
· our ability to match the skill sets of our employees to the needs of the marketplace.

 
If we over-utilize our workforce, our employees may become disengaged, which could impact employee attrition. If we under-utilize our workforce,

our profit margin and profitability could suffer.
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Employee or agent misconduct, or our failure to comply with anti-bribery and other laws or regulations, could harm our reputation, reduce our revenue and
profits, and subject us to criminal and civil enforcement actions.
 

Misconduct, fraud, non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations, or other improper activities by one of our employees or agents could have a
significant negative impact on our business and reputation. Such misconduct could include the failure to comply with government procurement regulations,
regulations regarding the protection of classified information, regulations prohibiting bribery and other foreign corrupt practices, regulations regarding the
pricing of labor and other costs in government contracts, regulations on lobbying or similar activities, regulations pertaining to the internal controls over
financial reporting, environmental laws, and any other applicable laws or regulations. For example, as previously noted, the FCPA and similar anti-bribery laws
in other jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.S. officials for the purpose of obtaining
or retaining business. Our policies mandate compliance with these regulations and laws, and we take precautions to prevent and detect misconduct. However,
since our internal controls are subject to inherent limitations, including human error, it is possible that these controls could be intentionally circumvented or
become inadequate because of changed conditions. As a result, we cannot assure that our controls will protect us from reckless or criminal acts committed by
our employees or agents. Our failure to comply with applicable laws or regulations or acts of misconduct could subject us to fines and penalties and suspension
or debarment from contracting, any or all of which could harm our reputation, reduce our revenue and profits, and subject us to criminal and civil enforcement
actions.
 
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls over financial reporting, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results. As a result,
current and potential stockholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could harm our business and the trading price of our stock.
 

Effective internal controls over financial reporting are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports. If we cannot maintain effective controls and
reliable financial reports, our business and operating results could be harmed. We continue to work on improvements to our internal controls over financial
reporting. Any failure to implement and maintain internal controls over our financial reporting or difficulties encountered in the implementation of
improvements in our controls, could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations. Any failure to improve our internal controls over financial reporting or to
address identified weaknesses in the future, if they were to occur, could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which
could have a negative impact on the trading price of our stock.

 
Our results of operations are subject to the risks of fluctuations in the values of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar.
 

Our results of operations are expressed in U.S. dollars. When the U.S. dollar appreciates or depreciates in value against a currency in which all or a
significant portion of revenues or other accounts receivable are denominated, such as the euro, our results of operations can be adversely affected or benefited,
respectively. The degree of impact is proportional to the amount of foreign currency expense or revenue, as the case may be, and the fluctuations in exchange
rates over the period in which the effect is measured on our financial statements. In addition, such currency fluctuations may affect the comparability of our
results of operations between financial periods.

 
Future revenues are difficult to predict and are likely to show significant variability as a consequence of customer concentration.
 

Because our revenues are highly concentrated in a few large customers, and because the volumes of these customers’ order flows to us can fluctuate
markedly in a short period of time, our quarterly revenues, and consequently our results of operations, may be highly variable and subject to significant
changes over a relatively short period of time. Our largest OEM distribution customers may keep consumer products with which our carry solutions are
packaged “in-box” in active promotion for many months, or for a very short period of time, depending on various factors, including sales trends for the
product, product development cycles, new product introductions, and our customers' competitors' product offerings. As demand for the consumer product
relating to the in-box program matures and decreases, we may be forced to accept significant price and/or volume reductions in customer orders for our carry
solutions, which will adversely affect revenues. Additionally, our large design and development customers may have their budgets limited from many factors
including economic declines (resulting from a pandemic or any other reason) causing discretionary budgets to decline or may from-time-to-time choose to do
their development work in-house. All of these factors tend to lead to a high degree of variability in our quarterly revenue levels. Significant, rapid shifts in our
operating results may occur if and when one or more of these customers increases or decreases the size(s) of, or eliminates, their orders or engagement from us
by amounts that are material to our business.
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Our gross margins, and therefore our profitability, vary considerably by customer and by product, and if the revenue contribution from one or more distribution
customers or products changes materially, relative to total revenues, our gross profit percentage may fluctuate.
 

Our gross profit margins on the distribution products we sell can vary widely depending on the product type, customer, and order size. Because of the
broad variability in price ranges and product types, we anticipate that gross margins, and accordingly their impact on operating income or loss, may fluctuate
depending on the relative revenue contribution from each customer or product. If our gross margins decrease, our results of operations will be adversely
affected.

 
Product manufacture is often outsourced by our distribution customers to contract manufacturing firms in China and in these cases it is the contract
manufacturer to which we must look for payment.
 

Contract manufacturing firms are performing manufacturing, assembly, and product packaging functions, including the bundling of our product
accessories with the OEM distribution customer's product. As a consequence of this business practice, we often sell our carry solutions products directly to the
contract manufacturing firm. This is particularly significant in the case of diabetic product sales to certain customers. In these cases, we invoice the contract
manufacturing firm and not the OEM distribution customer. Therefore, it is the contract manufacturing firm to which we must look for payment in such cases
and not our OEM distribution customer. If we fail to receive payment from the contract manufacturer, our ability to be paid for products already delivered
would be limited. In such event, our results of operations and cash flows will be adversely affected.

 
Our dependence on foreign manufacturers creates quality control and other risks to our business. From time to time we may experience certain quality control,
on-time delivery, cost, or other issues that may jeopardize customer relationships.
 

Our reliance on foreign suppliers, manufacturers and other contractors involves significant risks, including risk of product quality issues and reduced
control over quality assurance, manufacturing yields and costs, pricing, timely delivery schedules, the potential lack of adequate manufacturing capacity and
availability of product, the lack of capital and potential misappropriation of our designs. In any such event, our reputation and our business will be harmed.

 
Our shipments of distribution products may become subject to delays or cancellation due to work stoppages or slowdowns, piracy, damage to port facilities,
and congestion due to inadequacy of port terminal equipment and other causes.
 

To the extent that there are disruptions or delays in loading container cargo in ports of origin or off-loading cargo at ports of destination as a result of labor
disputes, work-rules related slowdowns, tariff or World Trade Organization-related disputes, piracy, physical damage to port terminal facilities or equipment
caused by severe weather or terrorist incidents, congestion in port terminal facilities, inadequate equipment to load, dock and offload container vessels or
energy-related tie-ups or otherwise, or for other reasons, product shipments to our customers will be delayed. For example, in March 2021, a container ship
carrying some of our products was stuck in the Suez Canal for six days. Although this accident did not have a material adverse effect on our business, there is
no assurance that, if it happened again, that it would not. In any such case, our customers may cancel or change the terms of its purchase order, resulting in a
cancellation or delay of payments to us. A closure or partial closure of port facilities or other causes of delays in the loading, importation, offloading or
movement of our products to the shipping destination agreed to with our customer could result in increased expenses, as we try to avoid such delays, delayed
shipments or cancelled orders, or all of the above. Depending on the severity of such consequences, this may have an adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.
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Issues with our products may lead to product liability, personal injury or property damage claims, recalls, withdrawals, replacements of products, or
regulatory actions by governmental authorities that could divert resources, affect business operations, decrease sales, increase costs, and put us at a
competitive disadvantage, any of which could have a significant adverse effect on our financial condition.
 

We may experience issues with products that we source or develop that may lead to product liability, personal injury or property damage claims, recalls,
withdrawals, replacements of products, or regulatory actions by governmental authorities. Any of these activities could result in increased governmental
scrutiny, harm to our reputation, reduced demand by consumers for products, decreased willingness by retailer customers to purchase our products, absence or
increased cost of insurance, or additional safety and testing requirements. Such results could divert development and management resources, adversely affect
our business operations, decrease sales, increase legal fees and other costs, and put us at a competitive disadvantage compared to other companies not affected
by similar issues with products, any of which could have a significant adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Although the
Company does provide only limited warranties and carries product liability insurance, we can provide no assurance that customers will not seek damages
beyond what we warranty or beyond our insurance coverage. Although we have not had significant claims for damages or losses from the products we
distribute, any uninsured claim, if successful and of significant magnitude, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations
or financial condition.

 
The carrying solutions distribution business is highly competitive and does not pose significant barriers to entry.
 

There are many competitors in the sale of carry solutions products to our customers including OEMs, and competition is intense. Since little or no
significant proprietary technology is involved in the design, production or distribution of the types of products we sell, others may enter the business with
relative ease and compete against us. Such competition may result in the diminution of our market share or the loss of one or more major customers, thereby
adversely affecting our net revenues, results of operations, and financial condition. Many of our competitors are larger, better capitalized and more diversified
than we are and may be better able to withstand a downturn in the general economy or in the product areas in which we specialize. Potential customers may
prefer the pricing terms offered by competitors. These competitors may also have less sales concentration than we do and be better able to withstand the loss of
a key customer or diminution in its orders. If we are not effectively able to compete, our results of operations will be adversely affected.

 
If we fail to retain our key personnel, we may not be able to achieve our anticipated level of growth and our business could suffer.
 

Our future depends, in part, on our ability to attract and retain key sales personnel and the continued contribution of our executive officers including
Terence Wise, our Chief Executive Officer, who would be difficult to replace. Our design and development business is highly labor intensive and, therefore,
our ability to attract and retain professional and technical staff is an important factor in our future success. The market for qualified engineers is competitive
and, from time to time, it may be difficult to attract and retain qualified individuals with the required expertise within the timeframe demanded by our clients.
The loss of the services of any of our key personnel and the process to replace any key personnel would involve significant time and expense and may
significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives.

 
If a third party asserts that we are infringing on its intellectual property, whether successful or not, it could subject us to costly and time-consuming litigation
or require us to obtain expensive licenses, and our business may be adversely affected.
 

Third party lawsuits alleging our infringement of patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights could cause us to do one or more of the
following:
 
 · stop using technology that contains the allegedly infringing intellectual property;
 
 · incur significant legal expenses;
 
 · cause our management to divert substantial time to our defenses;
 
 · pay substantial damages to the party whose intellectual property rights we may be found to be infringing;
 
 · indemnify customers; or
 
 · attempt to obtain a license to the relevant intellectual property from third parties, which may not be available to us on reasonable terms or at all.
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Third party lawsuits alleging our infringement of patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property rights could have a material adverse effect on our

business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
If we experience system interruptions, it may cause us to lose customers and may harm our business.
 

Our inability to maintain and improve our information technology systems and infrastructure may result in system interruptions. System interruptions and
slow delivery times, unreliable service levels, prolonged or frequent service outages, or insufficient capacity may prevent us from efficiently providing services
to our customers on our website, which could result in our losing customers and revenue.
 

We lease space for our data center for power, security, connectivity and other services. We also rely on third party providers for bandwidth. We do not
control these vendors and it would take significant time and effort to replace them. We have experienced, and may experience in the future, website disruptions,
outages and other performance problems due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or software errors and capacity constraints.
 

Our systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from terrorist attacks, floods, fires, power loss, telecommunications failures, hurricanes, computer
viruses, computer denial of service attacks or other attempts to harm our systems. Any such damage or interruption would adversely affect our results of
operations.
 
Because our networks and IT systems may be vulnerable to unauthorized persons hacking our systems, it could disrupt our operations and result in the theft of
our proprietary information.
 

A party who is able to breach the security measures on our networks could misappropriate either our or our customers’ proprietary information, or cause
interruptions or malfunctions in our operations. Hacking of companies’ infrastructure is a growing problem. Although we believe our systems and engineering
team have the capability of protecting the Company from any such hacking, we can provide you with no such assurance. If we grow and obtain more visibility,
we may be more vulnerable to hacking. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against such threats or to alleviate
problems caused by breaches in security, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial performance and operating results.

 
Our design business uses software that is highly technical, and undetected errors, if any, could adversely affect our business.
 

Our design business may use software that is highly technical and complex. Our software has contained, and may now or in the future contain, undetected
errors, bugs, flaws, corrupted data or vulnerabilities. Some errors in our software code may only be discovered after the code has been released. Any errors,
bugs, flaws or corrupted data could result in damage to our reputation, loss of users, or loss of revenue, any of which could adversely affect our business and
financial results.

 
We maintain cash balances in our bank accounts that exceed the FDIC insurance limitation.
 

We maintain our cash assets at commercial banks in the U.S. in amounts in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limit of
$250,000 and in Europe in amounts that may exceed any applicable deposit insurance limits. In the event of a failure at a commercial bank where we maintain
our deposits or uninsured losses on money market or other cash equivalents in which we maintain cash balances, we may incur a loss to the extent such loss
exceeds the insurance limitation, which could have a material adverse effect upon our financial conditions and our results of operations.
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Our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is a significant shareholder, which makes it possible for him to have significant influence over the outcome of all
matters submitted to our shareholders for approval and which influence may be alleged to conflict with our interests and the interests of our other
shareholders.
 

Terence Wise, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, is a significant shareholder who beneficially owns approximately 17% of the outstanding shares
of our common stock as of September 30, 2021. Mr. Wise has substantial influence over the outcome of all matters submitted to our shareholders for approval,
including the election of our directors and other corporate actions. This influence may be alleged to conflict with our interests and the interests of our other
shareholders. In addition, such influence by Mr. Wise could have the effect of discouraging potential business partners or create actual or perceived governance
instabilities that could adversely affect the price of our common stock.

 
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
 
Due to factors beyond our control, our stock price may be volatile.
 

Any of the following factors could affect the market price of our common stock:
 
 · Our failure to increase revenue in each succeeding quarter and achieve and thereafter maintain profitability;
 · Our failure to meet our revenue and earnings guidance or our failure to meet financial analysts’ performance expectations;
 · The loss of Forward China as our agent;
 · Cybersecurity breaches;
 · The loss of customers or our failure to attract more customers;
 · Creditworthiness and solvency of clients;
 · Loss of key employees;
 · The sale of a large amount of common stock by our shareholders;
 · Our announcement of a pending or completed acquisition or our failure to complete a proposed acquisition;
 · An adverse court ruling or regulatory action;
 · Changes in regulatory practices, including tariffs and taxes;
 · Changes in market valuations of similar companies;
 · Short selling activities;
 · Our announcement of any financing or a change in the direction of our business;
 · Announcements by us, or our competitors, of significant contracts, acquisitions, commercial relationships, joint ventures or capital commitments.
 

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted. A
securities class action suit against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s time and attention, which would otherwise be used to benefit
our business.
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Failure to meet the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, could result in delisting of our common stock, which in its turn would negatively affect the price
of our common stock and limit investors’ ability to trade in our common stock.
 

Our common stock trades on Nasdaq. Nasdaq rules impose certain continued listing requirements, including the minimum $1 bid price, corporate
governance standards and number of public stockholders. At December 10, 2021, our closing price was $1.81. If we fail to meet these continued listing
requirements, Nasdaq may take steps to delist our common stock. If our common stock is delisted from The Nasdaq Capital Market, we could face significant
material adverse consequences, including:

 
 · a limited availability of market quotations for our common stock;
   
 · reduced liquidity with respect to our common stock;
   
 · a determination that our shares of common stock are a “penny stock” which will require broker-dealers trading in our common stock to adhere to

more stringent rules, possibly resulting in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for our common stock;
   
 · a limited amount of news and analyst coverage for our company; and
   
 · a limited ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.
 
If we become subject to a regulatory investigation, it could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner
materially adverse to our business.
 

From time to time, we may receive inquiries from regulators regarding our compliance with laws and other matters. In 2019, we incurred significant
expenses responding to an SEC investigation into potential insider trading by certain insiders of the Company. Although that investigation has concluded,
responding to, or defending other such actions would cause us to continue to incur substantial expenses and divert our management’s attention.
 

Violation of existing or future regulatory orders or consent decrees could subject us to substantial monetary fines and other penalties that could negatively
affect our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, it is possible that future orders issued by, or enforcement actions initiated by, regulatory
authorities could cause us to incur substantial costs or require us to change our business practices in a manner materially adverse to our business.
 
We do not expect to pay dividends in the future, which means that investors may not be able to realize the value of their shares except through a sale.
 

We do not anticipate that we will declare or pay a cash dividend. We expect to retain future earnings, if any, for our business and do not anticipate paying
dividends on common stock at any time in the foreseeable future. Because we do not anticipate paying dividends in the future, the only opportunity for our
shareholders to realize the creation of value in our common stock will likely be through a sale of those shares.

 
ITEM 1B.     UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

 
Not Applicable.
 

ITEM 2.        PROPERTIES
 
We lease all properties where our business is operated. We believe that these properties are adequate for the purposes for which they are used. All leases

are with unaffiliated third parties. We believe that the loss of any lease would not have a material adverse effect on our operations, as we believe that we could
identify and lease comparable facilities upon approximately equivalent terms. The following properties which are material to the Company’s business are
described below:
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We lease 14,000 square feet in Hauppauge, New York for our executive offices and IPS, which we rent under a lease agreement scheduled to expire in

2027. The lease has annual escalations and rent payments were $30,000 per month during Fiscal 2021.
 
We lease 11,000 square feet in Coon Rapids, Minnesota for Kablooe, which we rent under a lease agreement scheduled to expire in June 2026. The lease

has annual escalations and rent payments were $10,000 per month during Fiscal 2021.
  
ITEM 3.        LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

 
On August 21, 2020, IPS was named a third-party defendant in a patent dispute claim currently pending in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District

of New York. The complaint, which contains no specific amount of claimed monetary damages, asserts that certain intellectual property was misappropriated
by IPS and one of its former employees.  In October 2021, the Court ruled that the misappropriation claim was invalid. The remaining allegation is that IPS
breached a non-disclosure agreement with a party to the case. IPS denies the allegations, believes the action is without merit and intends to vigorously defend
it. The Company has filed a motion to dismiss.

 
From time to time, the Company may become a party to other legal actions or proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. As of September 30,

2021, there were no such actions or proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, that, if decided adversely to the Company’s interests, the Company
believes would be material to its business.

 
ITEM 4.        MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.
 

Not Applicable.
 

 
 

 19  



 

 
PART II

 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF

EQUITY SECURITIES
 
Market for Common Stock
 

The principal market for our common stock is Nasdaq. Our common stock is traded under the symbol “FORD”.
 
On December 10, 2021, the closing price for our common stock was $1.81.
 

Holders of Common Stock
 

At November 30, 2021, there were approximately 70 holders of record of our common stock. Because many of our shares of common stock are held by
brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.

 
Dividends
 

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock since 1987 and do not plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The payment of
dividends in the future, if any, will depend upon our results of operations, as well as our short-term and long-term cash availability, net working capital,
working capital needs, and other factors, as determined by our Board of Directors. Currently, except as may be provided by applicable laws, there are no
contractual or other restrictions on our ability to pay dividends if we were to decide to declare and pay them.

 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
 

None.
 
ITEM 6.        SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
 

Not applicable.
 

ITEM 7.        MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in

this report on Form 10-K. All dollar amounts and percentages presented herein have been rounded to approximate values. In addition to historical information,
this discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially
from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, including but not limited to those set forth under “Risk Factors.”

 
Cautionary statement regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 

This report includes “forward-looking statements”, as such term is used within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These
statements include, among other things, statements regarding:

 
 · Expectations regarding growth in retail;
 
 · Plans on repaying outstanding debt obligations;
 
 · Liquidity
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as well as other statements regarding our future operations, financial condition and prospects, and business strategies. Forward-looking statements generally
can be identified by words such as "anticipates," "believes," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "plans," "predicts," "projects," "will be," "will continue," "will
likely result," and similar expressions. These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and
uncertainties, which could cause our actual results to differ materially and adversely from those reflected in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in particular, the risks discussed
under the caption "Risk Factors" in Item 1A of this report and those discussed in other documents we file with the SEC. We undertake no obligation to revise or
publicly release the results of any revision to these forward-looking statements, except as required by law. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking statements.
 
Business Overview
 

Forward Industries, Inc. is a fully integrated design, development and manufacturing solution provider for top tier medical and technology customers
worldwide. As a result of the continued expansion of our design development capabilities through our wholly owned subsidiaries, IPS and Kablooe, we are
now able to introduce proprietary products to the market from concepts brought to us from a number of different sources, both inside and outside the Company.

 
The acquisition of Kablooe took place in August 2020 and its results of operations have been included in our condensed consolidated financial statements

since the acquisition date. Accordingly, our results of operations for Fiscal 2021 include Kablooe’s results of operations for 12 months, while our results of
operations for Fiscal 2020 include Kablooe’s results of operations for approximately six weeks. Key terms of the acquisition are described in Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.

  
The future impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and any resulting economic impact are largely unknown and could be significant. It is possible that the

COVID-19 pandemic, the measures taken by the governments of countries affected and the resulting economic impact may negatively impact our results of
operations, cash flows and financial position in future periods as well as that of our customers, including their ability to pay for our services and choosing to
allocate their budgets to new or existing projects which may or may not require our services. The long-term financial impact on our business cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time. As a result, the effects of COVID-19 may not be fully reflected in our financial results until future periods.

 
Until the pandemic is fully controlled, we expect business conditions to remain challenging.  In response to these challenges, we will continue to focus on

those factors that we can control: closely managing and controlling our expenses; aligning our design and development schedules with demand in a proactive
manner as there are changes in market conditions to minimize our cash operating costs; pursuing further improvements in the productivity and effectiveness of
our development, selling and administrative activities and, where appropriate, taking advantage of opportunities to enhance our business growth and strategy.
To help mitigate the impact of these challenging business conditions, we implemented cost-cutting initiatives and reduced executive pay and Board of Directors
compensation for the three months ended June 30, 2021. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section for further description of these cost-cutting measures.

 
Additionally, see Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” for a description of the material risks we currently face in connection with COVID-19.

 
Variability of Revenues and Results of Operations
 

A significant portion of our revenue is concentrated with several large customers, some of which are the same and some of which change over time. Orders
from some of these customers can be highly variable, with short lead times, which can cause our quarterly revenues, and consequently our results of operations,
to vary over a relatively short period of time.

 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
 

We have identified the accounting policies and significant estimation processes below as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our
results of operations. The discussion below is not intended to be comprehensive. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular transaction is
specifically dictated by U.S. GAAP, with no need for management’s judgment. In other cases, management is required to exercise judgment in the application
of accounting principles with respect to particular transactions. The impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business operations are
discussed throughout this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” where such policies affect reported and
expected financial results. For a detailed discussion of the applications of these and other accounting policies, see “Item 8. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. There can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates and such differences could
be significant.
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Revenue Recognition
 
OEM and Retail Distribution Segments
 

We generally recognize revenue in our OEM and retail distribution segments when: (i) finished goods are shipped to our customers (in general, these
conditions occur at either point of shipment or point of destination, depending on the terms of sale and transfer of control); (ii) there are no other deliverables or
performance obligations; and (iii) there are no further obligations to the customer after the title of the goods has transferred. When we receive consideration
before achieving the criteria previously mentioned, we record a contract liability, which is classified as a component of deferred income in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. The OEM distribution segment had no contract liabilities at September 30, 2021, 2020 or 2019. The retail distribution segment had
contract liabilities of $0, $75,000 and $0 at September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
Design Segment
 

We apply the “cost to cost” and “right to invoice” methods of revenue recognition to the contracts with customers in the design segment. The design
segment typically engages in two types of contracts: (i) time and material and (ii) fixed price contracts. We recognize revenue over time on our time and
material contracts utilizing a “right to invoice” method. Revenues from fixed price contracts that require performance of services that are not related to the
production of tangible assets are recognized by using cost inputs to measure progress toward the completion of its performance obligations or the “cost to cost”
method. Revenues from contracts that contain specific deliverables are recognized when the performance obligation has been satisfied or the transfer of goods
to the customer has been completed and accepted.
 

Recognized revenues that will not be billed until a later date, or contract assets, are recorded as an asset and classified as a component of accounts
receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The design segment had contract assets of $693,000, $649,000 and $611,000 at September 30,
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Contracts where collections to date have exceeded recognized revenues, or contract liabilities, are recorded as a liability and
classified as a component of deferred income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The design segment had contract liabilities of $188,000,
$410,000 and $220,000 at September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
Business Combinations

 
We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair

values. The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. When determining the
fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, we make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Critical
estimates in valuing certain intangible assets include but are not limited to future expected cash flows from customer relationships and developed technology,
discount rates and terminal values. Our estimate of fair value is based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but actual results may differ from estimates.
Other estimates associated with the accounting for acquisitions may change as additional information becomes available regarding the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed.
 
Segment Reporting

 
We have three reportable segments: OEM distribution, retail distribution and design. The OEM distribution segment sources and distributes carrying cases

and other accessories for medical monitoring and diagnostic kits and a variety of other portable electronic and non-electronic devices directly to OEMs or their
contract manufacturers. The retail distribution segment sources and sells smart-enabled furniture and a variety of other products through agreements with
various retailers, both in stores and through online retailer websites. The design reportable segment consists of two operating segments (IPS and Kablooe,
which have been aggregated into one reportable segment) that provide a full spectrum of hardware and software product design and engineering services.

 
Our chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) regularly reviews revenue and operating income for each segment to assess financial results and allocate

resources. For our OEM and retail distribution segments, we exclude general and administrative and general corporate expenses from their measure of
profitability as these expenses are not allocated to the segments and therefore not included in the measure of profitability used by the CODM. For the design
segment, general and administrative expenses directly attributable to that segment are included in its measure of profitability as these expenses are included in
the measure of its profitability reviewed by the CODM. We do not include intercompany activity in our segment results to be consistent with the information
that is presented to the CODM (see Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements).
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

 
We review goodwill for impairment at least annually, or more often if triggering events occur. We have two reporting units with goodwill (IPS and

Kablooe) and we perform our annual goodwill impairment test on September 30, the end of the fiscal year, or upon the occurrence of a triggering event. We
have the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine if an impairment is more likely than not to have occurred. If we can support the conclusion
that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then we would not need to perform a quantitative
impairment test for the reporting unit. If we cannot support such a conclusion or do not elect to perform the qualitative assessment, then we will perform the
quantitative impairment test by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit
exceeds its carrying value, no impairment charge is recognized. If the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an impairment charge will
be recognized for the amount by which the reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds its fair value. A significant amount of judgment is required in performing
goodwill impairment tests including estimating the fair value of a reporting unit. During Fiscal 2020, we recorded an impairment charge related to goodwill
(See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements). There were no impairment charges in Fiscal 2021.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In August 2018, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2018-13 “Fair Value Measurement –
Disclosure Framework (Topic 820)” to improve the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. The updated guidance is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for any removed or modified disclosures. We adopted
this guidance in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021 with no material impact to our consolidated financial statements.

 
In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-08, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) and Revenue from Contracts with Customers

(Topic 606)” to provide guidance for share-based payment awards granted to a customer in conjunction with selling goods or services accounted for under
Topic 606. The pronouncement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those fiscal years. We adopted this
guidance in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021 with no material impact to our consolidated financial statements.

 
In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses.” ASU 2019-11 is an

accounting pronouncement that provides clarity to and amends earlier guidance on this topic and would be effective concurrently with the adoption of such
earlier guidance. This pronouncement is effective for us for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 and interim periods within those fiscal years. We
are currently evaluating the effects of this pronouncement on our consolidated financial statements.

 
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15 “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40)” addressing customers’

accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract, which requires customers to apply internal-use
software guidance to determine the implementation costs that are able to be capitalized. Capitalized implementation costs are required to be amortized over the
term of the arrangement, beginning when the cloud computing arrangement is ready for its intended use. The effective date of the new guidance for public
companies is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. We adopted this
guidance in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021 with no material impact to our consolidated financial statements.

 
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.” This guidance removes

certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and provides consistent application of U.S. GAAP by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The
effective date of the new guidance for public companies is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods within those fiscal years.
Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the effects of this pronouncement on our consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR FISCAL 2021 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2020
 
Consolidated Results
 

The table below summarizes our consolidated results of operations for Fiscal 2021 as compared to Fiscal 2020:
 
  Consolidated Results of Operations  
  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020   Change ($)   Change (%)  
Net revenues  $ 39,022,000  $ 34,478,000  $ 4,544,000   13.2% 
Cost of sales   30,888,000   27,839,000   3,049,000   11.0% 

Gross profit   8,134,000   6,639,000   1,495,000   22.5% 
Sales and marketing expenses   2,503,000   1,951,000   552,000   28.3% 
General and administrative expenses   6,396,000   5,655,000   741,000   13.1% 
Goodwill impairment   –   1,015,000   (1,015,000)   (100.0%)

Loss from operations   (765,000)   (1,982,000)   1,217,000   (61.4%)
Other expense, net   (1,289,000)   (216,000)   (1,073,000)   496.8% 
Income tax provision   –   9,000   (9,000)   (100.0%)

Consolidated net income/(loss)  $ 524,000  $ (1,775,000)  $ 2,299,000   (129.5%)
 
Net revenues increased 13.2% from Fiscal 2020 to Fiscal 2021. The timing of the Kablooe acquisition in August 2020 accounted for $2,059,000 of the

increase, with the majority of the remaining increase due to the growth of the retail business.
 
Gross profit increased 22.5% from Fiscal 2020 to Fiscal 2021 and gross margin increased from 19.3% to 20.8% in the same period. The increase in gross

profit was primarily attributable to the increase in revenues resulting from the Kablooe acquisition in August 2020 and retail sales. The improvement in gross
margin was due to higher margins in the design segment, partially offset by pricing pressures in the OEM segment and higher cost of products in the retail
segment.

 
Sales and marketing expenses increased 28.3% from Fiscal 2020 to Fiscal 2021. The increase was primarily due to higher advertising costs and sales

commissions as we continue to expand our retail segment. Sales and marketing as a percentage of revenues increased to 6.4% in Fiscal 2021 from 5.7% in
Fiscal 2020.

 
General and administrative expenses increased 13.1%, from Fiscal 2020 to Fiscal 2021. The increase was driven by several factors including $836,000 of

additional expenses resulting from Kablooe, which was acquired in August 2020 and a $583,000 increase in bad debt expense. These increases were partially
offset by a $327,000 decrease in impairment charges (see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements), lower personnel and Board of Director expenses
resulting from the cost-cutting measures taken in the third quarter of Fiscal 2021, a reduction in severance costs and lower professional fees. General and
administrative expenses remained consistent at 16.4% of revenues in Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020.

 
We reported other income of $1,289,000 in Fiscal 2021 as compared to $216,000 in Fiscal 2020. The increase is due to the $1,357,000 forgiveness of note

payable related to the Paycheck Protection Program loan (“PPP loan”) and an increase in interest income on a note receivable from a customer which was fully
reserved for in Fiscal 2019. These increases in other income were partially offset by a decrease in fair value adjustments associated with acquisition related
liabilities (see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements).

 
In Fiscal 2021, we recorded no tax provision or benefit, and we generated income before income taxes of $524,000, primarily resulting from the

$1,357,000 forgiveness of note payable related to the PPP loan. The forgiveness of the PPP loan will not be recognized as taxable income per the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”). In Fiscal 2020, we recorded a tax provision of $9,000, generated a loss before income taxes of
$1,766,000 and had an effective tax rate of 0.5%.

 
We maintain significant net operating loss carryforwards and do not recognize a significant income tax provision or benefit as our deferred tax provision is

typically offset by maintaining a full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets.
 
Consolidated basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share was $0.05 and $(0.19) for Fiscal 2021 Fiscal 2020, respectively.
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Segment Results

 
The discussion that follows below provides further details about the results of operations for each segment as compared to the prior year. In Fiscal 2021,

due to the growth of our retail division, we determined it to be a separate reportable segment. The Fiscal 2020 results of operations for each segment discussed
below have been reformatted from what was previously disclosed to segregate the retail distribution segment and exclude general corporate expenses from
segment operating income to show them as a reconciling item so that results are comparable to the current year presentation.

 
  Segment Results of Operations  

  
OEM

Distribution   
Retail

Distribution   Design   
Corporate
Expenses   Consolidated  

Fiscal 2021 revenues  $ 19,290,000  $ 3,183,000  $ 16,549,000  $ –  $ 39,022,000 
Fiscal 2020 revenues   19,726,000   1,026,000   13,726,000   –   34,478,000 
Change  $ (436,000)  $ 2,157,000  $ 2,823,000  $ –  $ 4,544,000 
                     
Fiscal 2021 operating income/(loss)  $ 1,479,000  $ (779,000)  $ 603,000  $ (2,068,000)  $ (765,000)
Fiscal 2020 operating income/(loss)   1,616,000   (337,000)   (378,000)   (2,883,000)   (1,982,000)
Change  $ (137,000)  $ (442,000)  $ 981,000  $ 815,000  $ 1,217,000 
 
OEM Distribution
 

Net revenues in the OEM distribution segment declined 2.2% due to reduced revenues in the sale of diabetic products, partially offset by an increase in
other product revenue. Revenues from diabetic products declined $649,000 and revenues from other products increased $213,000. As consumer demand
increases for diabetic testing products which require no carrying case, we expect diabetic product sales to represent a smaller portion of our OEM distribution
revenue.

 
The following tables set forth revenues by product line of our OEM distribution segment customers for the periods indicated:
 

  OEM Revenues by Product Line  
  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020   Change ($)   Change (%)  

 Diabetic products  $ 16,588,000  $ 17,237,000  $ (649,000)   (3.8%)
 Other products   2,702,000   2,489,000   213,000   8.6% 
 Total net revenues  $ 19,290,000  $ 19,726,000  $ (436,000)   (2.2%)

 
Diabetic Product Revenues
 

Our OEM distribution segment sources to the order of, and sells carrying cases for, blood glucose diagnostic kits directly to OEMs (or their contract
manufacturers). The OEM customer or its contract manufacturer packages our carry cases “in box” as a custom accessory for the OEM’s blood glucose testing
and monitoring kits or, to a lesser extent, sells them through their retail distribution channels.

 
Revenues from diabetic products declined 3.8%, primarily due to lower revenues from one major diabetic customer, which resulted from their switch to a

lower cost product, coupled with delays caused by supply chain constraints. Revenue declines from other major diabetic customers were less significant and
were partially offset by an increase in revenue from all other diabetic products customers. As mentioned above, management believes that revenues from
diabetic customers will continue to decline. Revenues from diabetic products represented 86% of net revenues for the OEM distribution segment in Fiscal 2021
compared to 87% in Fiscal 2020.
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Other Product Revenues
 

Our OEM distribution segment also sources and sells cases and protective solutions for a diverse array of portable electronic and non-electronic products
(such as sporting and recreational products, bar code scanners, GPS devices, tablets and firearms) on a made-to-order basis that are customized to fit the
products sold by our OEM customers.

 
Revenues from other products increased 8.6% due to the acquisition of new customers plus higher volume from certain existing customers. We will

continue to focus on our sales and sales support teams in our attempt to expand and diversify our other products customer base. Revenues of other products
represented 14% of our OEM distribution revenues in Fiscal 2021 as compared to 13% in Fiscal 2020.
 
Operating Income
 

Operating income for the OEM distribution segment declined $137,000, or 8.5%, from Fiscal 2020 to Fiscal 2021 and operating income margin declined to
7.7% in Fiscal 2021, compared to 8.2% in Fiscal 2020. These declines were driven primarily by lower sales revenue and a shift to lower-margin cases and
pricing pressures on diabetic products from customers. The decline in gross margin from our diabetic products was partially offset by higher gross margins on
the sale of other products in Fiscal 2021. We continue to work on expanding our product offerings to include higher margin products and enhancing our sales
efforts to grow revenue and increase gross profit.

 
Retail Distribution Segment
 

Net revenues in the retail distribution segment increased $2,157,000 in Fiscal 2021 due to new product offerings and the continued expansion of our retail
distribution network, revenue derived from new retail agreements as well as an increase in volume with certain existing retailers. In Fiscal 2020, $758,000 of
retail distribution revenues were derived from the sale and sourcing of personal protective equipment, the result of demand caused by the pandemic, which did
not recur in Fiscal 2021. We will continue to focus on our sales and sales support teams in our attempt to expand and diversify our retail product offerings.

 
Operating loss for the retail distribution segment increased $442,000 in Fiscal 2021. The increase in revenues was offset by higher cost of sales caused by

supply chain issues and the elimination of the sale of personal protective equipment from Fiscal 2020, which generated higher gross margins. Selling and
marketing expenses increased as well driven by higher sales commissions resulting from the increase in revenue.

 
Design Segment
 

Net revenues in the design segment increased $2,823,000, or 20.6%. The increase in revenues was primarily due to the $2,059,000 additional revenue
generated by Kablooe, which was acquired in August 2020. Additional revenue from new and existing customers drove the balance of the increase, which was
partially offset by declines in revenues from certain prior year customers.

 
Operating income/(loss) for the design segment improved $981,000, primarily due to the reduction of $1,342,000 of impairment charges from Fiscal 2020.

Gross margin improvements driven by better utilization rates and the inclusion of a full year of Kablooe results were offset by additional general and
administrative expenses relating to a $673,000 increase in bad debt expense and higher personnel costs.

  
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 

Our primary source of liquidity is our operations. The primary demand on our working capital has historically been (i) operating losses, (ii) repayment of
debt obligations, and (iii) any increases in accounts receivable and inventories arising in the ordinary course of business. Historically, our sources of liquidity
have been adequate to satisfy working capital requirements arising in the ordinary course of business. At September 30, 2021, our working capital was
$5,587,000 compared to $3,396,000 at September 30, 2020. The improvement in working capital was primarily due to the extension of the $1,600,000 note
payable to Forward China to December 31, 2022. Our largest vendor is Forward China, a related entity, which is able to extend payment terms on outstanding
liabilities when necessary (see Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements). We can provide no assurances that any such extension will be given if
requested.
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In an abundance of caution and to proactively conserve the Company’s cash flow, we implemented certain cost-cutting measures which became effective

in April 2021. These cost-cutting measures included (i) our executive officers agreeing to a temporary pay cut and our Chief Executive Officer temporarily
forgoing his base salary, (ii) a reduction in our head count and amounts paid to outside consultants and (iii) non-employee Board members agreeing to reduce
their board fees.  These cost-cutting measures ended in June 2021 and compensation was returned to pre-existing amounts in July 2021. The Company
estimates that these pay cuts and other reductions resulted in approximately $200,000 of cash savings in the third quarter of Fiscal 2021. The Company will
reevaluate any future need for these or similar cost-cutting measures as business conditions warrant.  In light of these circumstances, the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors deferred a recommendation for director equity compensation.  Therefore, in addition to cash savings, the resulting
reduction in equity compensation lowered the Company’s non-cash expenses in the third and fourth quarters of Fiscal 2021.

 
At November 30, 2021, we had $1,200,000 cash on hand and $1,300,000 available under our line of credit which matures May 31, 2022. Additionally,

Forward China holds a $1,600,000 promissory note which matures December 31, 2022 (see Note 14). Although this note has been extended on multiple
occasions to assist us with our liquidity position, we plan on funding the repayment at maturity using existing cash balances and/or obtaining an additional
credit facility as deemed necessary. We can provide no assurance that Forward China will extend the note again if we request an extension nor that any such
credit facility will be available on terms acceptable to us or at all.

 
As discussed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, on April 18, 2020, we entered into a PPP loan in an aggregate principal amount of

$1,357,000. In December 2020, the Small Business Administration (“SBA”) approved our forgiveness request for this loan. There is a six-year period during
which the SBA can review this forgiveness.

 
We anticipate that our liquidity and financial resources will be adequate to manage our operating and financial requirements until at least December 31,

2022. If we have the opportunity to make a strategic acquisition (as we have in the past with the acquisitions of IPS and Kablooe) or an investment in a product
or partnership, we may require additional capital beyond our current cash balance to fund the opportunity. If we seek to raise additional capital, there is no
assurance that we will be able to raise funds on terms that are acceptable to us or at all.
 

Although we do not anticipate the need to purchase any additional material capital assets in order to carry out our business, it may be necessary for us to
purchase equipment and other capital assets in the future, depending on need.

 
Cash Flows
 

During Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, our sources and uses of cash were as follows:
 

Operating Activities
 

During Fiscal 2021, cash used in operating activities of $528,000 resulted from an operating loss of $765,000, an increase in accounts receivable of
$1,665,000, an increase in inventories of $787,000, a decrease in deferred income of $297,000 and the net change in other operating assets and liabilities of
$223,000, partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and amounts due to Forward China of $2,306,000 and non-cash expenses of $903,000 related to
depreciation, amortization, share-based compensation and bad debt expense.

 
During Fiscal 2020, cash used in operating activities of $263,000 resulted from a net loss of $1,775,000, an increase in accounts receivable of $733,000,

non-cash fair value adjustments of $334,000, and bad debt recoveries of $78,000, partially offset by non-cash impairment charges of $1,342,000, depreciation
and amortization of $272,000, share-based compensation of $245,000 and the net change in other operating assets and liabilities of $798,000.

 
Investing Activities
 

In Fiscal 2021, cash used for investing activities of $67,000 resulted from purchases of property and equipment.
 
In Fiscal 2020, cash used for investing activities of $390,000 resulted from the $322,000 net cash consideration for the Kablooe acquisition and purchases

of property and equipment of $68,000.
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Financing Activities
 

In Fiscal 2021, cash used in financing activities of $919,000 consisted of net repayments under our line of credit of $1,000,000, repayments of notes
payable and finance lease liabilities of $187,000, partially offset by proceeds from stock options exercised of $268,000.

 
In Fiscal 2020, cash provided by financing activities of $485,000 consisted of $1,357,000 proceeds from the PPP loan and $32,000 in proceeds from stock

options exercised, partially offset by net repayments of $300,000 on the line of credit, payments of $500,000 of deferred cash consideration and $104,000 in
repayments on notes payable and finance leases.

 
ITEM 7A.      QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

 
Not applicable.
 

ITEM 8.         FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
 
The consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in this Annual Report may be found beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on

Form 10-K.
 

ITEM 9.         CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
 
None.
 

ITEM 9A.      CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

Our management carried out an evaluation, with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on their evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2021.

 
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act). Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, evaluated
the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report. In making this assessment, our management
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework as
issued in 2013. Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2021 was effective
based on that criteria.

 
Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed under the supervision of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer

to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external reporting purposes in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. Internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Changes in Internal Control
 

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management's evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of
the Exchange Act during the fourth quarter of Fiscal 2021 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

 
ITEM 9B.     OTHER INFORMATION
 

None.
 
ITEM 9C.     DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
 

Not Applicable.
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PART III

 
ITEM 10.      DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

 
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with

the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021. Our Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to all officers,
directors and employees, which is available on our website (https://forwardindustries.com/investors/governance/) under "Corporate Governance." We intend to
satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our Code of Conduct and by posting
such information on the website address and location specified above.

 
ITEM 11.      EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

 
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with

the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021.
 

ITEM 12.      SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
 
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with

the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021.
 

ITEM 13.      CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 
 
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with

the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021.
 

ITEM 14.     PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
 
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to our Proxy Statement for the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with

the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021.
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PART IV

 
ITEM 15.     EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
 
(a) Documents filed as part of the report.
  

 (1) Financial Statements. See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements, which appears on page F-1 hereof. The financial statements listed in the
accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements are filed herewith in response to this Item.

   

 (2) Financial Statements Schedules. All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or because the required information is contained in the
consolidated financial statements or notes included in this report.

   
 (3) Exhibits. See the Exhibit Index.
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Signatures

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
Dated: December 16, 2021
 

 FORWARD INDUSTRIES, INC.
 

 

By: /s/ Terence Wise
Terence Wise
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 
In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and
in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

 
December 16, 2021 /s/ Terence Wise

Terence Wise
Principal Executive Officer and Director

  
December 16, 2021 /s/ Anthony Camarda

Anthony Camarda
Principal Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer

  
December 16, 2021 /s/ Howard Morgan

Howard Morgan
Director

  
December 16, 2021
 
 
 

/s/ Sangita Shah
Sangita Shah
Director

December 16, 2021 /s/ James Ziglar
James Ziglar
Director
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EXHIBIT INDEX

 

   
Incorporated by

Reference  

Exhibit
No.  Exhibit Description Form Date Number

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 18, 2018 - Intelligent Product Solutions, Inc.+ 8-K 1/18/18 2.1  
2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Forward Industries, Inc., Kablooe, Inc., Kablooe Design, Inc.

and Tom KraMer dated August 17, 2020+
8-K 8/17/20 2.1  

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation 10-K 12/8/10 3(i)  
3.2 Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation, April 26, 2013 8-K 4/26/13 3.1  
3.3 Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Incorporation, June 28, 2013 8-K 7/3/13 3.1  
3.4 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws, as of May 28, 2014 10-K 12/10/14 3(ii)  
4.1 Description of securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act of 1934 10-K 12/27/19 4.1  
4.2 Promissory Note dated January 18, 2018 – Forward Industries (Asia-Pacific) (as amended and restated) 10-Q 5/13/21 4.1  

10.1 2011 Long Term Incentive Plan, as amended 10-Q 2/14/19 4.3  
10.2 2021 Equity Incentive Plan 8-K 12/23/20 4.1  
10.3 Buying Agency and Supply Agreement - Forward Industries (Asia-Pacific) Corporation 10-K 12/16/15 10.7  

10.3(a) Amendment No. 1 to Buying Agency and Supply Agreement - Forward Industries (Asia-Pacific)
Corporation

10-Q 8/14/17 10.2  

10.3(b) Amendment No. 2 to Buying Agency and Supply Agreement - Forward Industries (Asia-Pacific)
Corporation

8-K 9/22/17 10.1  

10.3(c) Amendment No. 3 to Buying Agency and Supply Agreement – Forward Industries (Asia-Pacific)
Corporation

10-Q 5/15/19 10.1(c)  

10.3(d) Amendment No. 4 to Buying Agency and Supply Agreement – Forward Industries (Asia-Pacific)
Corporation

10-K 12/27/19 10.3(d)  

10.3(e) Amendment No. 5 to Buying Agency and Supply Agreement – Forward Industries (Asia-Pacific)
Corporation

10-K 12/17/20 10.2(e)

10.4 Form of Employment Agreement dated January 18, 2018+ 8-K 1/18/18 10.1  
10.4(a) Form of Employment Agreement dated May 26, 2021*    Filed

10.5 Employment Agreement dated May 16, 2018 - Terence Wise* 10-Q 5/18/18 10.5  
10.6 Employment Agreement between Forward Industries, Inc. and Anthony Camarda, dated June 26, 2020* 8-K 7/2/20 10.1  
10.7 Paycheck Protection Program Term Note payable to TD Bank, N.A. dated April 18, 2020 8-K 4/22/20 10.1  
10.8 Amended and Restated TD Bank Revolving Term Note dated September 28, 2018 8-K 10/2/18 10.1  
10.9 TD Bank Modification Agreement dated September 28, 2018 8-K 10/2/18 10.2  
21.1 List of Subsidiaries 10-K 12/17/20 21.1  
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm    Filed
31.1 CEO Certifications (302)    Filed
31.2 CFO Certification (302)    Filed
32.1 CEO and CFO Certifications (906)    Furnished

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the Instance Document does not appear in the Interactive Data File
because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

   Filed

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document    Filed
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document    Filed
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document    Filed
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document    Filed
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document    Filed

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)     
 ______________________
* Management compensatory agreement or arrangement.
 
+    Certain schedules, appendices and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or
exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission staff upon request.
 
Copies of this filing (including the financial statements) and any of the exhibits referred to above will be furnished at no cost to our shareholders who make a written request to
Forward Industries, Inc.; 700 Veterans Memorial Hwy, Suite 100, Hauppauge, NY 11788; Attention: Corporate Secretary.
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https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-18-000005.html?hash=df3d9e42efd3cfad39820abb44edfb60dbe80f910a5ff2e77cc7c38f9b256cc7&dest=EX2-1_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-20-002782.html?hash=9a3f57d970dca723dbd3e184921c80b14d17da41769a5eb6e572865f88fb149d&dest=FORWARD_8K-EX9901_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-20-002782.html?hash=9a3f57d970dca723dbd3e184921c80b14d17da41769a5eb6e572865f88fb149d&dest=FORWARD_8K-EX9901_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-10-000300.html?hash=00fa1a527687633519aae87472137286ba678c752e8102af3e49a73d9f6b1162&dest=EXHIBIT3I_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-13-000150.html?hash=d1cef2c01ce1e58c846be2b67f98c0bdf2d71c3b45212cb6e4ef12a8ece21e03&dest=ES3-1_HTM
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https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-14-000579.html?hash=8b808ed6d01a62238e5d8c23a33d52a2a055f38d583a8469fbd3ad72f0b4851d&dest=EX3-II_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-19-004079.html?hash=c87f7340f10e99003fda9216e683563fd0b3c5818d735112b638469b4fad2ea4&dest=FORD_EX0401_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-21-001955.html?hash=dc935198d95a542d3d4306efc082808bd0a9f1e3fec7a66ae533ff3727407520&dest=FORWARD_EX0401_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-19-000016.html?hash=d9321996bd5329ada2ed771861fae906cce79efb7f7fbd59c8cbd693944b955a&dest=EXHIBIT4-3_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-20-004438.html?hash=2e15a62f03629ce1a65fa10c1ea9195769bb7da9c47a90f92cd57815bdd0b983&dest=FORWARD_EX0401_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-15-000510.html?hash=42fdd75c9c0cd9afb92769a3b01ee996d1eeca991bf0dda22e469d001c2cbb03&dest=EX10-7_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-17-000285.html?hash=908b64297fa6830e6da4ad8a170d37aede4bf84dfe26a8d3dbffe2c1b6a319a0&dest=FORWARDEX102_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-17-000285.html?hash=908b64297fa6830e6da4ad8a170d37aede4bf84dfe26a8d3dbffe2c1b6a319a0&dest=FORWARDEX102_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-17-000307.html?hash=f98d5eec60d83cc2e63605cd22c9b7fdd877f0ed80c090a0b0586cf746bddec4&dest=EXHIBIT10-1_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-17-000307.html?hash=f98d5eec60d83cc2e63605cd22c9b7fdd877f0ed80c090a0b0586cf746bddec4&dest=EXHIBIT10-1_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-19-000048.html?hash=691c117ea10bca4804eae50e2da2390e084348bb4751bf648b6a47deda6e92f2&dest=EXHIBIT4-1B_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-19-000048.html?hash=691c117ea10bca4804eae50e2da2390e084348bb4751bf648b6a47deda6e92f2&dest=EXHIBIT4-1B_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-19-004079.html?hash=c87f7340f10e99003fda9216e683563fd0b3c5818d735112b638469b4fad2ea4&dest=FORD_EX1003D_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-19-004079.html?hash=c87f7340f10e99003fda9216e683563fd0b3c5818d735112b638469b4fad2ea4&dest=FORD_EX1003D_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-20-004344.html?hash=6405461abe9256a38a79cc74a92a0695428b4342ef579ea24a3ca71c507df272&dest=FORWARD_EX1002E_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001683168-20-004344.html?hash=6405461abe9256a38a79cc74a92a0695428b4342ef579ea24a3ca71c507df272&dest=FORWARD_EX1002E_HTM
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001003297-18-000005.html?hash=df3d9e42efd3cfad39820abb44edfb60dbe80f910a5ff2e77cc7c38f9b256cc7&dest=EX10-1_HTM
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Forward Industries, Inc.

 
Opinion on the Financial Statements

 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Forward Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of September 30, 2021 and
2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

 
Basis for Opinion

 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding
of the internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 
Critical Audit Matters

 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated
or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (i) related to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements
and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way our
opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

 
Assessment of Going Concern

 
We identified the Company’s assessment of going concern as a critical audit matter. Auditing the Company’s assessment of going concern was complex and
subjective due to the significant estimation and judgment used in forecasted cash flows. Specifically, the forecasted cash flows are sensitive to significant
assumptions such as projected revenue and projected operating results, all of which are affected by the expected future market or economic conditions,
including the effects of the global pandemic. In addition, the Company’s largest vendor and lender is a related entity, as disclosed in Note 14. This related entity
has a history of extending payment terms to the Company, when necessary.

 
The primary procedures we performed to address this critical matter included the following:

 
· Obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the Company’s process to develop forecasted cash flows, including significant assumptions used in

developing forecasted cash flows as well as testing the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data used by the Company in its analyses.
· Evaluating the reasonableness of the Company’s forecasted revenue, operating results, and cash flows by comparing those forecasts to underlying business

strategies, including customer relationships and the Company’s ability to obtain new customers, and to historical results. In addition, we performed
sensitivity analyses related to the key inputs used in the Company’s forecasted cash flows, including evaluating whether the changes in the assumptions
would result in a material change in forecasted cash flows.

· Evaluating management’s ability to accurately forecast future cash flows by comparing the Company’s historical forecasted sales, operating results and
cash flow forecasts to actual results.

· Obtaining written confirmation from the related entity regarding extension of payment terms of the related promissory note payable.
 

/s/ CohnReznick LLP
 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.
 

Melville, New York
December 16, 2021
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FORWARD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 
 

         
  September 30  
  2021   2020  
Assets         
         
Current assets:         

Cash  $ 1,410,365  $ 2,924,627 
Accounts receivable, net   8,760,715   7,602,316 
Inventories, net   2,062,557   1,275,694 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   561,072   419,472 

         
Total current assets   12,794,709   12,222,109 

         
Property and equipment, net   167,997   215,323 
Intangible assets, net   1,318,658   1,531,415 
Goodwill   1,758,682   1,758,682 
Operating lease right of use assets, net   3,743,242   3,512,042 
Other assets   72,251   116,697 
         

Total assets  $ 19,855,539  $ 19,356,268 
         
Liabilities and shareholders' equity         
         
Current liabilities:         

Line of credit  $ –  $ 1,000,000 
Note payable to Forward China   –   1,600,000 
Accounts payable   391,992   197,022 
Due to Forward China   5,733,708   3,622,401 
Deferred income   187,695   485,078 
Current portion of notes payable   –   983,395 
Current portion of finance lease liability   1,523   18,411 
Current portion of earnout consideration   25,000   45,000 
Current portion of operating lease liability   340,151   259,658 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   527,974   615,401 

Total current liabilities   7,208,043   8,826,366 
         
Other liabilities:         

Note payable to Forward China   1,600,000   – 
Notes payable, less current portion   –   529,973 
Operating lease liability, less current portion   3,559,053   3,359,088 
Finance lease liability, less current portion   –   12,769 
Earnout consideration, less current portion   45,000   45,000 

Total other liabilities   5,204,053   3,946,830 
         

Total liabilities   12,412,096   12,773,196 
         
Commitments and contingencies       
         
Shareholders' equity:         

Common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 40,000,000 shares authorized; 10,061,185 and 9,883,851
shares issued and outstanding at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively   100,612   98,838 

Additional paid-in capital   19,914,476   19,579,684 
Accumulated deficit   (12,571,645)   (13,095,450)

         
Total shareholders' equity   7,443,443   6,583,072 

         
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  $ 19,855,539  $ 19,356,268 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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FORWARD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 
 
         

  For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30,  
  2021   2020  
       
Revenues, net  $ 39,021,996  $ 34,478,358 
Cost of sales   30,887,577   27,839,851 

Gross profit   8,134,419   6,638,507 
         
Sales and marketing expenses   2,503,518   1,950,704 
General and administrative expenses   6,395,900   5,655,186 
Goodwill impairment   –   1,015,000 
         

Loss from operations   (764,999)   (1,982,383)
         
Gain on forgiveness of note payable   (1,356,570)   – 
Fair value adjustment of earnout consideration   (20,000)   (350,000)
Fair value adjustment of deferred cash consideration   –   16,000 
Interest income   (88,760)   (60,932)
Interest expense   171,957   174,962 
Other expense, net   4,569   3,701 

Income/(loss) before income taxes   523,805   (1,766,114)
         
Provision for income taxes   –   9,167 
         

Net income/(loss)  $ 523,805  $ (1,775,281)
         
Earnings/(loss) per share:         

Basic  $ 0.05  $ (0.19)
Diluted  $ 0.05  $ (0.19)

         
Weighted average common shares outstanding:         

Basic   9,950,094   9,583,441 
Diluted   10,443,018   9,583,441 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FORWARD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
 

 
                     

  For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2021  
        Additional        
  Common Stock   Paid-In   Accumulated     
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Total  
                
Balance at September 30, 2020   9,883,851  $ 98,838  $ 19,579,684  $ (13,095,450)  $ 6,583,072 
                     

Share-based compensation   –   –   68,855   –   68,855 
Stock options exercised   177,334   1,774   265,937   –   267,711 
Net income   –   –   –   523,805   523,805 

                     
Balance at September 30, 2021   10,061,185  $ 100,612  $ 19,914,476  $ (12,571,645)  $ 7,443,443 
 
 

  For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020  
        Additional        
  Common Stock   Paid-In   Accumulated     
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Deficit   Total  
                
Balance at September 30, 2019   9,533,851  $ 95,338  $ 18,936,130  $ (11,320,169)  $ 7,711,299 
                     

Share-based compensation   –   –   245,154   –   245,154 
Shares issued for Kablooe acquisition   300,000   3,000   366,900   –   369,900 
Stock options exercised   50,000   500   31,500   –   32,000 
Net loss   –   –   –   (1,775,281)   (1,775,281)

                     
Balance at September 30, 2020   9,883,851  $ 98,838  $ 19,579,684  $ (13,095,450)  $ 6,583,072 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FORWARD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

 
 

         
  For the Fiscal Years Ended September 30,  
  2021   2020  
Operating Activities:         

Net income/(loss)  $ 523,805  $ (1,775,281)
Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash used in operating activities:         

Share-based compensation   68,855   245,154 
Depreciation and amortization   327,290   271,973 
Bad debt expense/(recovery)   506,469   (78,278)
Gain on forgiveness of note payable   (1,356,570)   – 
Change in fair value of earn-out consideration   (20,000)   (350,000)
Change in fair value of deferred cash consideration   –   16,000 
Goodwill impairment   –   1,015,000 
Impairment of investment   –   326,941 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Accounts receivable   (1,664,868)   (733,228)
Inventories   (786,863)   333,133 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (141,600)   30,542 
Other assets   44,446   138,311 
Accounts payable and due to Forward China   2,306,277   245,679 
Deferred income   (297,383)   219,713 
Net changes in operating lease liabilities   49,258   25,945 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (87,427)   (194,550)

Net cash used in operating activities   (528,311)   (262,946)
         
Investing Activities:         

Purchases of property and equipment   (67,207)   (68,456)
Cash used in acquisition of Kablooe, Inc.   –   (352,628)
Cash acquired in acquisition of Kablooe, Inc.   –   31,024 

Net cash used in investing activities   (67,207)   (390,060)
         
Financing Activities:         

Proceeds from line of credit borrowings   150,000   900,000 
Repayment of line of credit borrowings   (1,150,000)   (1,200,000)
Repayment of notes payable   (156,798)   (68,551)
Proceeds from note payable   –   1,356,570 
Proceeds from stock options exercised   267,711   32,000 
Repayments of finance leases   (29,657)   (35,199)
Payment of deferred cash consideration   –   (500,000)

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities   (918,744)   484,820 
         
Net decrease in cash   (1,514,262)   (168,186)
Cash at beginning of year   2,924,627   3,092,813 
Cash at end of year  $ 1,410,365  $ 2,924,627 
         
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:         

Cash paid for interest  $ 154,510  $ 178,114 
Cash paid for taxes  $ 8,389  $ 4,854 

         
Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Information:         

Lease assets recorded  $ 565,590  $ 3,825,632 
Lease liabilities recorded  $ 565,590  $ 3,906,391 
Common stock issued in Kablooe acquisition  $ –  $ 369,900 
Fair value of Kablooe contingent earnout consideration  $ –  $ 90,000 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
NOTE 1        OVERVIEW
 
Business
 

Forward Industries, Inc. (“Forward”, “we”, “our”, or the “Company”), is a fully integrated design, development and manufacturing solution provider for
top tier medical and technology customers worldwide. Through its acquisitions of IPS and Kablooe, the Company has expanded its ability to design and
develop solutions for our existing multinational client base and expand beyond the diabetic product line into a variety of industries with a full spectrum of
hardware and software product design and engineering services.  In addition to our existing design and distribution of carry and protective solutions, primarily
for handheld electronic devices, the Company is now a one-stop shop for design, development and manufacturing solutions serving a wide range of clients in
the industrial, commercial and consumer industries. The Company’s previous principal customer market has been original equipment manufacturers, or
“OEMs” (or the contract manufacturing firms of these OEM customers), that either package our products as accessories “in box” together with their branded
product offerings or sell them through their retail distribution channels. The Company’s OEM products include carrying cases and other accessories for medical
monitoring and diagnostic kits and a variety of other portable electronic and non-electronic products (such as sporting and recreational products, bar code
scanners, smartphones, GPS location devices, tablets and firearms). The Company’s OEM customers are located in: (i) the Asia-Pacific region, which we refer
to as the “APAC Region”; (ii) Europe, the Middle East, and Africa, which we refer to as the “EMEA Region”; and (iii) the geographic area encompassing
North America, Central America and South America, which we refer to as the “Americas”. The Company does not manufacture any of its OEM products and
sources substantially all of its OEM products from independent suppliers in China, through Forward Industries Asia-Pacific Corporation, a British Virgin
Islands corporation (“Forward China”). See Note 14.

 
As a result of the expansion of the design development capabilities through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, IPS and Kablooe, the Company is now able to

introduce proprietary products to the market from concepts brought to it from a number of different sources, both inside and outside the Company.
 
Liquidity

 
In Fiscal 2021, the Company generated net income of $524,000 and negative cash flow from operations of $528,000 . We believe our existing cash balance

and working capital will be sufficient to meet our liquidity needs through at least December 31, 2022. Our largest vendor is Forward China, a related entity,
which is able to extend payment terms on outstanding liabilities when necessary (see Note 14). We can provide no assurances that any such extension will be
given if requested.
 
Impact of COVID-19
 

The outbreak of the COVID-19 virus continues to impact our results of operations. While the most significant impact was in Fiscal 2020, the virus
continued to impact our results of operations in Fiscal 2021. The business shutdowns resulting from the pandemic disrupted our supply chain and the
manufacture or shipment of our products and delayed the rollout of our retail products. Additionally, demand for our design and development services was
reduced or delayed as a result of the pandemic as certain customers reduced discretionary spending. The risk of collecting accounts receivable is also enhanced
as a result of the economic impact of COVID-19. While revenues for Fiscal 2021 increased as compared to Fiscal 2020, they were lower than anticipated due
in part to the impact of COVID-19 and the resulting economic conditions. The impact of lower than anticipated revenue was further complicated by a
significant increase in freight costs due to the global shipping container shortage caused in part by the pandemic.

 
Many government restrictions have been relaxed and the economy has continued to open in more jurisdictions. However, the emergence of new and

transmittable variants of COVID-19 could lead to a possible resurgence of the virus, particularly in populations with low vaccination rates and has resulted in
new restrictions in certain geographies and among certain businesses. The long-term financial impact on our business cannot be reasonably estimated at this
time. As a result, the effects of COVID-19 may not be fully reflected in our financial results until future periods. Refer to “Part I, Item 1A — Risk Factors” for
a description of the material risks that the Company currently faces in connection with COVID-19.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

Until the pandemic is fully controlled, we expect business conditions to remain challenging.  In response to these challenges, we will continue to focus on
those factors that we can control: closely managing and controlling our expenses; aligning our design and development schedules with demand in a proactive
manner as there are changes in market conditions to minimize our cash operating costs; pursuing further improvements in the productivity and effectiveness of
our development, selling and administrative activities and, where appropriate, taking advantage of opportunities to enhance our business growth and strategy.
To help mitigate the impact of these challenging business conditions, we implemented cost-cutting initiatives including reducing executive pay and Board of
Directors compensation for the three months ended June 30, 2021. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section of Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for further description of these cost-cutting measures.
 
NOTE 2        ACCOUNTING POLICIES
 
Use of Estimates
 

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual
results could differ from those estimates and assumptions. Within this report, certain dollar amounts and percentages have been rounded to their approximate
values.

 
The extent to which COVID-19 may impact our financial condition or results of operations is uncertain. As of the date of issuance of this report, we are not

aware of any specific events or circumstances that would require us to update our estimates or judgments or adjust the carrying amount of our assets or
liabilities.

 
Basis of Presentation
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Forward Industries, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (Forward US,
Forward Switzerland, Forward UK, IPS and Kablooe). All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

 
The acquisition of Kablooe took place in August 2020 and its results of operations have been included in our consolidated financial statements since the

acquisition date. Accordingly, our results of operations for Fiscal 2021 include Kablooe’s results of operations for 12 months, while our results of operations for
Fiscal 2020 include Kablooe’s results of operations for approximately six weeks. Key terms of the acquisition are described in Note 3.

  
Segment Reporting
 

The Company has three reportable segments: OEM distribution, retail distribution and design. The OEM distribution segment sources and distributes
carrying cases and other accessories for medical monitoring and diagnostic kits and a variety of other portable electronic and non-electronic devices directly to
OEMs or their contract manufacturers. The retail distribution segment sources and sells smart-enabled furniture and a variety of other products through
agreements with various retailers, both in stores and through online retailer websites. The design segment consists of two operating segments (IPS and
Kablooe, which have been aggregated into one reportable segment) that provide a full spectrum of hardware and software product design and engineering
services. See Note 16 for more information on segments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
  

Goodwill
 

The Company reviews goodwill for impairment at least annually, or more often if triggering events occur. The Company has two reporting units with
goodwill (IPS and Kablooe) and we perform our annual goodwill impairment test on September 30, the end of the fiscal year, or upon the occurrence of a
triggering event. The Company has the option to perform a qualitative assessment to determine if an impairment is more likely than not to have occurred. If the
Company can support the conclusion that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the Company
would not need to perform a quantitative impairment test for the reporting unit. If the Company cannot support such a conclusion or does not elect to perform
the qualitative assessment, then the Company will perform the quantitative impairment test by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying
amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, no impairment charge is recognized. If the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, an impairment charge will be recognized for the amount by which the reporting unit’s carrying amount exceeds
its fair value. A significant amount of judgment is required in performing goodwill impairment tests including estimating the fair value of a reporting unit. See
Note 4.

 
Intangible Assets
 

Intangible assets include trademarks and customer relationships, which were acquired as part of the acquisitions of IPS in Fiscal 2018 and Kablooe in
Fiscal 2020 (see Note 3) and are recorded based on their estimated fair value determined in conjunction with the purchase price allocation. These intangible
assets are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which are periodically evaluated for reasonableness.

 
Our intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable. In assessing the recoverability of our intangible assets, we must make estimates and assumptions regarding future cash flows and other factors to
determine the fair value of the respective assets. These estimates and assumptions could have a significant impact on whether an impairment charge is
recognized and also the magnitude of any such charge. Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in time, based on relevant information. These estimates
are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgments and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in
assumptions could significantly affect the estimates. If these estimates or material related assumptions change in the future, we may be required to record
impairment charges related to our intangible assets. Management evaluated and concluded that there were no indications of impairment of intangible assets at
September 30, 2021 or 2020.

 
Cash
 

The Company maintains its cash in bank and financial institution deposits in the United States (that at times may exceed federally insured limits of
$250,000 per financial institution) and Switzerland. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, there were deposits totaling $805,000 (which includes $436,000 in a
foreign bank) and $2,300,000 (which includes $770,000 in a foreign bank), respectively, held in excess of federally insured limits. Historically, we have not
experienced any losses due to such cash concentrations.

 
Accounts Receivable
 

Accounts receivable consist of unsecured trade accounts with customers. The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is recorded as
a reduction to accounts receivable on the consolidated balance sheets. Collectability of accounts receivable is estimated by evaluating the number of days
accounts are outstanding, customer payment history, recent payment trends and perceived creditworthiness, adjusted as necessary based on specific customer
situations. At September 30, 2021, the Company had allowances for doubtful accounts of $90,000 and $706,000 related to its OEM distribution segment and
design segment accounts receivable, respectively. At September 30, 2020, the Company had allowances for doubtful accounts of $249,000 and $347,000
related to its OEM distribution segment and design segment accounts receivable, respectively. The Company did not have any allowance for doubtful accounts
related to its retail distribution segment at September 30, 2021 or 2020.
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Inventories
 
Inventories consist primarily of finished goods and are stated at the lower of cost (determined by the first-in, first-out method) or net realizable value.

Based on management’s estimates, an allowance is made to reduce excess, obsolete, or otherwise unsellable inventories to net realizable value. The allowance
is established through charges to cost of sales in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. As reserved inventory is disposed, the Company charges
off the associated allowance. In determining the adequacy of the allowance, management’s estimates are based upon several factors, including analyses of
inventory levels, historical loss trends, sales history and projections of future sales demand. The Company’s estimates of the allowance may change from time
to time based on management’s assessments, and such changes could be material. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the allowance for slow-moving inventory
was $50,000 and $0, respectively.

 
Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment consist of computer hardware and software, furniture, fixtures and equipment and are recorded at cost. Expenditures for major
additions and improvements are capitalized, and minor replacements, maintenance, and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. When property and
equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is included
in the results of operations for the respective period. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the related assets using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives for all property and equipment ranges from three to five years.

 
Leases
 

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 842, "Leases", effective October 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective transition
method and elected to apply the available practical expedients to enable the preparation of financial information on adoption. The practical expedients applied
under the new standard allow the Company to carry forward the historical lease classification and not reassess its prior conclusions about lease identification or
initial direct costs. In accordance with this guidance, lease assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term, using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate commensurate with the lease term, since the Company’s lessors do not provide
an implicit rate, nor is one readily available. The Company has certain leases that may include an option to renew and when it is reasonably probable to
exercise such option, the Company will include the renewal option terms in determining the lease asset and lease liability. Lease assets represent the
Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the
lease. Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Operating lease assets are shown as right of use assets and
financing lease assets are a component of property and equipment on the consolidated balance sheets. The current and long-term portions of operating and
financing lease liabilities are shown separately as such on the consolidated balance sheets. Upon adoption of ASC 842, the Company recognized right of use
assets of $3,649,000 and corresponding lease liabilities of $3,729,000 pertaining to its operating leases on its consolidated balance sheets.
 
Income Taxes
 

The Company recognizes future tax benefits and liabilities measured at enacted rates attributable to temporary differences between financial statement and
income tax bases of assets and liabilities and to net tax operating loss carryforwards to the extent that realization of these benefits is more likely than not. At
September 30, 2021, there was no change to our assessment that a full valuation allowance was required against all net deferred tax assets. Accordingly, any
deferred tax provision or benefit was offset by an equal and opposite change to the valuation allowance. Our income tax provision or benefit is generally not
significant due to the existence of significant net operating loss carryforwards. 
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Revenue Recognition
 
OEM and Retail Distribution Segments
 

The Company generally recognizes revenue in its OEM and retail distribution segments when: (i) finished goods are shipped to its customers (in general,
these conditions occur at either point of shipment or point of destination, depending on the terms of sale and transfer of control); (ii) there are no other
deliverables or performance obligations; and (iii) there are no further obligations to the customer after the title of the goods has transferred. When the Company
receives consideration before achieving the criteria previously mentioned, it records a contract liability, which is classified as a component of deferred income
in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The retail distribution segment had contract liabilities of $0, $75,000 and $0 at September 30, 2021, 2020
and 2019, respectively. The OEM distribution segment had no contract liabilities at September 30, 2021, 2020 or 2019.

 
Design Segment
 

The Company applies the “cost to cost” and “right to invoice” methods of revenue recognition to the contracts with customers in the design segment. The
design segment typically engages in two types of contracts: (i) time and material and (ii) fixed price. The Company recognizes revenue over time on its time
and material contracts utilizing a “right to invoice” method. Revenues from fixed price contracts that require performance of services that are not related to the
production of tangible assets are recognized by using cost inputs to measure progress toward the completion of its performance obligations, or the “cost to
cost” method. Revenues from fixed price contracts that contain specific deliverables are recognized when the performance obligation has been satisfied or the
transfer of goods to the customer has been completed and accepted.
 

Recognized revenues that will not be billed until a later date, or contract assets, are recorded as an asset and classified as a component of accounts
receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The design segment had contract assets of $693,000, $649,000 and $611,000 at September 30,
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Contracts where collections to date have exceeded recognized revenues, or contract liabilities, are recorded as a liability and
classified as a component of deferred income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The design segment had contract liabilities at of $188,000,
$410,000 and $220,000 at September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

 
Shipping and Handling Fees
 

The Company includes shipping and handling fees billed to customers in net revenues and the related transportation costs in cost of sales.
 

Foreign Currency Transactions
 

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. dollar. Foreign currency transactions may generate receivables or payables that are fixed in terms of the
amount of foreign currency that will be received or paid. Fluctuations in exchange rates between such foreign currency and the functional currency increase or
decrease the expected amount of functional currency cash flows upon settlement of the transaction. These increases or decreases in expected functional
currency cash flows are foreign currency transaction gains or losses that are included in other expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. The approximate net losses from foreign currency transactions were $5,000 and $3,000 for Fiscal 2021 and 2020, respectively. Such foreign
currency transaction losses were primarily the result of euro denominated revenues from certain customers.

 
Fair Value Measurements
 

We perform fair value measurements in accordance with the guidance provided by ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurement.” ASC 820 defines fair value as the
price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at their fair values, we consider the principal or most
advantageous market in which we would transact and consider assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the assets or liabilities, such as
inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and risk of nonperformance.
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ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs
when measuring fair value. An asset's or liability's categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. ASC 820 establishes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

 
 · Level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 
 · Level 2: inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or

liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities; or

 
 · Level 3: unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair values of the assets or liabilities.
  
Share-Based Compensation Expense

 
The Company estimates the fair value of employee and non-employee director share-based compensation on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes

option pricing model, which includes variables such as the expected volatility of the Company’s share price, the exercise behavior of its grantees, interest rates,
and dividend yields. These variables are projected based on the Company’s historical data, experience, and other factors. The fair value of employee and non-
employee director share-based compensation is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations over the related service or vesting period of each grant.
In the case of awards with multiple vesting periods, the Company has elected to use the graded vesting attribution method, which recognizes compensation cost
on a straight-line basis over each separately vesting portion of the award as if the award was, in substance, multiple awards (see Note 9).
 
Business Combinations

 
The Company allocates the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their

estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. When
determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, the Company makes significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to
intangible assets.
 

Critical estimates in valuing certain intangible assets include but are not limited to future expected cash flows from customer relationships and developed
technology, discount rates and terminal values. Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but actual results may differ
from estimates. Other estimates associated with the accounting for acquisitions may change as additional information becomes available regarding the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed.
  
Reclassifications

 
Certain amounts in the accompanying Fiscal 2020 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the Fiscal 2021 presentation.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13 “Fair Value Measurement – Disclosure Framework (Topic 820)” to improve the disclosure requirements

on fair value measurements. The updated guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15,
2019. Early adoption is permitted for any removed or modified disclosures. The Company adopted this guidance in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021 with no
material impact to its consolidated financial statements.
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In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-08, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718) and Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606)” to provide guidance for share-based payment awards granted to a customer in conjunction with selling goods or services accounted for under
Topic 606. The pronouncement is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company
adopted this guidance in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021 with no material impact to its consolidated financial statements.

 
In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses.” ASU 2019-11 is an

accounting pronouncement that provides clarity to and amends earlier guidance on this topic and would be effective concurrently with the adoption of such
earlier guidance. This pronouncement is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 and interim periods within those fiscal
years. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements.

 
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15 “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40)” addressing customers’

accounting for implementation costs incurred in a cloud computing arrangement that is a service contract, which requires customers to apply internal-use
software guidance to determine the implementation costs that are able to be capitalized. Capitalized implementation costs are required to be amortized over the
term of the arrangement, beginning when the cloud computing arrangement is ready for its intended use. The effective date of the new guidance for public
companies is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company
adopted this guidance in the first quarter of Fiscal 2021 with no material impact to its consolidated financial statements.

 
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes.” This guidance removes

certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and provides consistent application of U.S. GAAP by clarifying and amending existing guidance. The
effective date of the new guidance for public companies is for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and interim periods within those fiscal years.
Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements.
 
NOTE 3        ACQUISITION
 

On August 17, 2020, in order to further diversify its customer base and the industries in which it sells its products, the Company and Kablooe, Inc. (a
newly formed wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) entered into an Asset Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Kablooe Design, Inc. (“Kablooe
Design”) and its sole shareholder. Kablooe Design is an innovative medical and consumer design and development company whose clients include leading
brands in medical devices. In consideration for the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Kablooe Design, the Company: (i) paid $353,000 in cash; (ii)
issued 300,000 shares of its common stock; (iii) agreed to pay up to an aggregate $500,000 in contingent earnout payments based on Kablooe meeting certain
earnings milestones (as defined in the Agreement) over a five-year period; and (iv) agreed to make two additional $50,000 retention payments to Kablooe’s
Chief Executive Officer on the fourth and fifth anniversaries of the acquisition based on his continued employment with Kablooe and the achievement of the
earnings milestones (as defined in the Agreement). Additionally, in conjunction with this acquisition, the Company entered into a five-year employment
agreement with Kablooe’s Chief Executive Officer and agreed to pay him a salary of $250,000 per year.

 
At the date of acquisition, the consideration transferred consisted of cash, shares of Forward’s common stock, and contingent consideration based on the

earnings performance of Kablooe over a five-year period. The acquisition date fair value of consideration transferred consisted of the following: 
    

Cash at closing (1)  $ 353,000 
Value of Forward's common stock (2)   370,000 
Fair value of contingent earnout consideration (3)   90,000 
Total Purchase Consideration  $ 813,000 
 _________________

 (1) Cash paid by Forward at closing.
 (2) Forward issued 300,000 shares of its common stock valued at $1.23 per share, which represents the August 17, 2020 closing price of $1.37 per

share, less an estimated 10% reduction in fair value related to restrictions that limit their marketability for a period of six months.
 (3) Fair value of the contingent consideration is measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing method. Contingent consideration is to be paid in cash

only upon Kablooe meeting certain earnings milestones over a five-year period.
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The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date: 
    

Cash  $ 31,000 
Accounts receivable   96,000 
Customer relationships (8 yr life)   340,000 
Trademark (15 yr life)   110,000 
Property and equipment   9,000 
Other assets   9,000 

Total identifiable assets acquired   595,000 
Accounts payable   (22,000)
Accrued liabilities   (135,000)
Deferred revenue   (46,000)
Debt   (170,000)

Total liabilities assumed   (373,000)
Net identifiable assets acquired   222,000 
Goodwill   591,000 
Net assets acquired  $ 813,000 

 
In relation to our acquisition of Kablooe, we incurred $78,000 of acquisition related costs in Fiscal 2020, including legal and valuation costs. These costs

were expensed as incurred and included as a component of general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations. Kablooe’s results
of operations have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the acquisition date. Our consolidated statement of operations for Fiscal 2020
includes revenue of $172,000 for Kablooe.

 
NOTE 4         INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL
 
Intangible Assets
 

The Company’s intangible assets consist of the following:  
                        

  September 30, 2021   September 30, 2020  

  Trademark   
Customer

Relationships   

Total
Intangible

Assets   Trademark   
Customer

Relationships   

Total
Intangible

Assets  
                   
Gross carrying amount  $ 585,000  $ 1,390,000  $ 1,975,000  $ 585,000  $ 1,390,000  $ 1,975,000 
Less accumulated amortization   (125,000)   (531,000)   (656,000)   (86,000)   (358,000)   (444,000)
Net carrying amount  $ 460,000  $ 859,000  $ 1,319,000  $ 499,000  $ 1,032,000  $ 1,531,000 

 
The Company’s intangible assets were acquired as a result of the acquisitions of Kablooe and IPS in Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2018, respectively, and relate

to the design segment of our business. Intangible assets are amortized over their expected useful lives of 15 years for the trademarks and 8 years for the
customer relationships. During Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, the Company recorded amortization expense related to intangible assets of $212,000 and
$167,000, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expenses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
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At September 30, 2021, estimated amortization expense for the Company’s intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter is as follows: 
    

Fiscal 2022  $ 213,000 
Fiscal 2023   213,000 
Fiscal 2024   213,000 
Fiscal 2025   213,000 
Fiscal 2026   121,000 
Thereafter   346,000 
Total  $ 1,319,000 
 

Goodwill
 
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits of assets acquired in a business combination that are not individually identified or separately recognized.

The Company’s goodwill resulted from the acquisitions of Kablooe and IPS in Fiscal 2020 and Fiscal 2018, respectively. The goodwill associated with the IPS
acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes, but the goodwill associated with the Kablooe acquisition is deductible for tax purposes. All of the Company’s
goodwill is held under the design segment of our business.
 

During Fiscal 2020, the Company experienced triggering events that prompted the testing of its goodwill for impairment. Those triggering events included
the reduction in fair value of the IPS contingent earn-out consideration discussed in Note 6 and revised revenue and operational projections for IPS for the later
part of Fiscal 2020 and future periods. Based on these factors, the Company concluded that it was more likely than not that the fair value of the IPS reporting
unit had declined below its carrying amount. The Company then calculated the fair value of this reporting unit using Level 3 inputs, which is a combination of
asset-based, income and market approaches. The estimates and assumptions utilized in the estimated fair value calculation included discount rate, terminal
growth rate, selection of peer group companies and control premium applied as well as forecasts of revenue growth rates, gross margins, operating margins,
and working capital requirements. Any changes in the judgments, estimates, or assumptions used could produce significantly different results. The Company
concluded the IPS reporting unit’s fair value was below its carrying amount by $1,015,000 and an impairment charge was recognized for this amount in Fiscal
2020. The Company performed the annual goodwill impairment test for Fiscal 2021 and determined there was no impairment.

  
NOTE 5         PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

 
Property and equipment and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are summarized in the table below: 

        
  September 30,  
  2021   2020  
Computer hardware and software  $ 483,000  $ 488,000 
Furniture and fixtures   159,000   149,000 
Equipment   52,000   61,000 
Property and equipment, cost   694,000   698,000 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (526,000)   (483,000)
Property and equipment, net  $ 168,000  $ 215,000 
 
Depreciation expense was $115,000 and $105,000 for Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, respectively.
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NOTE 6         FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
 

The earnout consideration of $70,000 and $90,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, represents the fair value of the contingent earnout
consideration related to the acquisition of Kablooe. The current and non-current portions of this liability are shown in the corresponding categories on the
consolidated balance sheets at September 30, 2021 and 2020. During Fiscal 2021, the Company reduced this liability from $90,000 to $70,000 based on
changes in the expected likelihood of Kablooe reaching the specified earnings targets. The IPS earnout consideration was adjusted down to $0 in Fiscal 2020
due to the low likelihood of IPS reaching the underlying earnings targets.

 
The following table presents the placement in the fair value hierarchy and summarizes the change in fair value of the earn-out consideration for Fiscal

2021 and Fiscal 2020: 
                

     Fair value measurement at reporting date using  

     

Quoted prices in
active markets

for identical
assets   

Significant other
observable

inputs   

Significant
unobservable

inputs  
  Balance   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)  
             
Balance at September 30, 2019  $ 834,000  $ –  $ –  $ 834,000 
Increase in fair value of IPS deferred cash consideration   16,000   –   –   16,000 
Decrease in the fair value of IPS earnout consideration   (350,000)   –   –   (350,000)
Payout of IPS deferred cash consideration   (500,000)   –   –   (500,000)
Fair value of Kablooe earnout consideration   90,000   –   –   90,000 
Balance at September 30, 2020   90,000   –   –   90,000 
Decrease in fair value of Kablooe earnout consideration   (20,000)   –   –   (20,000)
Balance at September 30, 2021  $ 70,000  $ –  $ –  $ 70,000 

 
The fair value of the Kablooe contingent earn-out consideration is measured on a recurring basis at each reporting date. The following inputs and

assumptions were used in the Black-Scholes valuation model to estimate the fair value of the Kablooe earn-out consideration at September 30, 2021 and 2020: 
    

  September 30,
  2021  2020
Volatility  40%  40%
Risk-free interest rate  0.3%  1%
Expected term in years  0.5-3.4  0.5-4.5
Dividend yield  –  –
 
During Fiscal 2019, the Company received common stock from a customer as compensation for services provided, which was recorded as a cost-method

investment with an estimated fair value of $327,000. This initial fair value was based on a private placement round of common stock issued to third party
private investors of the customer at a time close to the valuation date. Management determined that the inputs used to value the investment were observable,
either directly or indirectly, and therefore classified as a level 2 valuation measurement.

 
In Fiscal 2019, the Company recorded bad debt expense of $1,626,000 to fully reserve accounts receivable deemed uncollectible from the same customer

in which it is invested. In Fiscal 2020, the Company converted the amount outstanding from this customer into a non-negotiable secured promissory note with
interest that accrues at a rate of 8% per annum and reclassified the related allowance for doubtful accounts to an allowance on the note receivable. The
Company received $101,000 and $134,000 from this customer in Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, respectively, of which $89,000 and $61,000, respectively, was
applied to past due interest and penalties and recorded as interest income, and $12,000 and $73,000, respectively, was applied to principal and recorded as a
recovery of bad debt expense as a reduction of general and administrative expense.
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During Fiscal 2020, as a result of the customer’s default on the promissory note, the impact of COVID-19, and performance of the business in which the
Company is invested, including its inability to generate revenue, management concluded the investment was also impaired and it recorded an impairment
charge of $327,000 to fully reserve the investment on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2020. The impairment charge is included in
general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations for Fiscal 2020.
 

The following table presents the placement in the fair value hierarchy and summarizes the change in fair value of the cost method investment during Fiscal
2020: 

                
     Fair value measurement at reporting date using  

     

Quoted prices in
active markets

for identical
assets   

Significant
other

observable
inputs   

Significant
unobservable

inputs  
  Balance   (Level 1)   (Level 2)   (Level 3)  
             
                 
September 30, 2019  $ 327,000  $ –  $ 327,000  $ – 
                 
Impairment of cost method investment   (327,000)   –   (327,000)   – 
                 
September 30, 2020  $ –  $ –  $ –  $ – 
 
NOTE 7        ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities at September 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

        
  September 30,  
  2021   2020  
Paid time off  $ 241,000  $ 296,000 
Other payroll-related liabilities   199,000   178,000 
Other   88,000   141,000 
Total  $ 528,000  $ 615,000 
 

NOTE 8        SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
Anti-Takeover Provisions
 
Shareholder Rights Plan

 
On April 26, 2013, the Board of Directors (the "Board") adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan, as set forth in the Rights Agreement between the Company

and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as Rights Agent. Pursuant to the Rights Agreement, the Board declared a dividend distribution of one
Right (a "Right") for each outstanding share of Company Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the "Common Stock") to shareholders of record at the
close of business on May 6, 2013, which date will be the record date, and for each share of Common Stock issued (including shares distributed from treasury)
by the Company thereafter and prior to the Distribution Date (as described below and defined in the Rights Agreement). Each Right entitles the registered
holder, subject to the terms of the Rights Agreement, to purchase from the Company one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Participating Preferred Stock,
$0.01 par value per share (the "Series A Preferred Stock"), at an exercise price of $4.00 per one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock, subject
to adjustment. 
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Initially, no separate Rights certificates will be distributed and instead the Rights will attach to all certificates representing shares of outstanding Common
Stock. Subject to certain exceptions specified in the Rights Agreement, the Rights will separate from the Common Stock and become exercisable on the
distribution date (the "Distribution Date"), which will occur on the earlier of (i) the 10th business day (or such later date as may be determined by the Board)
after the public announcement that an Acquiring Person (as defined in the Rights Agreement) has acquired beneficial ownership of 20% or more of the
Common Stock then outstanding; or (ii) the 10th business day (or such later date as may be determined by the Board) after a person or group announces a
tender or exchange offer that would result in a person or group of affiliated and associated persons beneficially owning 20% or more of the Common Stock
then outstanding.
 
“Blank Check” Preferred Stock

 
The Company is authorized to issue up to 4,000,000 shares of "blank check" preferred stock. The Board has the authority and discretion, without

shareholder approval, to issue preferred stock in one or more series for any consideration it deems appropriate, and to fix the relative rights and preferences
thereof including their redemption, dividend and conversion rights. Of these shares, 100,000 shares have been authorized as the Series A Participating Preferred
Stock. There were no shares of preferred stock issued or outstanding at September 30, 2021 or 2020.
 
Warrants
 

At September 30, 2021, the Company had 151,000 warrants outstanding and exercisable. The warrants have exercise prices ranging from $1.75 to $1.84
per share and have a weighted average exercise price of $1.80 per share. At September 30, 2021, 76,000 of these warrants have a remaining life of 2.3 years
and 75,000 warrants have an expiration date 90 days after a registration statement registering common stock (other than pursuant to an employee benefit plan)
is declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
Other Activity
 

In Fiscal 2020, the Company issued 300,000 shares of its common stock in connection with the Kablooe acquisition (see Note 3) and in Fiscal 2021 and
Fiscal 2020, issued 177,000 and 50,000 shares, respectively, of its common stock pursuant to the exercise of stock options (see Note 9).

 
NOTE 9         SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
 
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
 

In February 2021, shareholders of the Company approved the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”), which is administered by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors and authorizes 1,291,000 shares of common stock for grants of various types of equity awards to officers, directors,
employees and consultants. Upon approval of the 2021 Plan, no additional awards were granted under the 2011 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “2011 Plan”),
which expired according to its terms in March 2021. Shares authorized under the 2021 Plan include 1,000,000 new shares and 291,000 shares that remained
available under the 2011 Plan. Awards which are forfeited or expire are eligible for regrant under the 2021 Plan. The exercise prices of stock options granted
may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock as quoted on the Nasdaq stock market on the grant date and the expiration date of option
awards may not exceed 10 years. At September 30, 2021, there were 1,291,000 shares of common stock available for grants of equity awards under the 2021
Plan.
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2011 Long Term Incentive Plan
 
In March 2011, shareholders of the Company approved the 2011 Plan, which originally authorized 850,000 shares of common stock for grants of various

types of equity awards to officers, directors, employees, consultants, and independent contractors. In February 2018, the shareholders of the Company
approved an amendment to the 2011 Plan to increase the aggregate number of shares of the Company's common stock authorized for issuance under the 2011
Plan by 1,000,000 shares of common stock, from 850,000 shares of common stock to 1,850,000 shares of common stock. Forfeited awards were eligible for re-
grant under the 2011 Plan. The exercise prices of stock options granted may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock as quoted at the close
on the Nasdaq Stock Market on the grant date. The Compensation Committee administered the 2011 Plan. Options generally expire five to ten years after the
date of grant. Upon approval of the 2021 Plan, no additional awards were granted under the 2011 Plan, which expired according to its terms in March 2021.

 
Stock Options

 
The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the assumptions in the

following table. The expected term represents the period over which the stock option awards are expected to be outstanding. The Company utilizes the
simplified method to develop an estimate of the expected term of “plain vanilla” option grants. The expected volatility used is based on the historical price of
the Company’s stock over the most recent period commensurate with the expected term of the award. The risk-free interest rate used is based on the implied
yield of U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with a remaining term equivalent to the award’s expected term. The Company historically has not paid any dividends
on its common stock and had no intention to do so on the date the share-based awards were granted. The Company accounts for forfeitures in the period they
occur.
 

In applying the Black-Scholes option pricing model to options granted, the Company used the following assumptions: 
        

   Fiscal 2021    Fiscal 2020  
Expected term (years)   –    2.5-3.0 
Expected volatility   –   65%-79% 
Risk free interest rate   –   0.15%-1.39% 
Expected dividends   –   – 
 
The Company made no grants of stock options or other equity awards in Fiscal 2021. In Fiscal 2020, the Company made the following option grants:
 

 · Options to non-employee directors to purchase an aggregate of 248,019 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $1.13 per share. The
options were granted in February 2020, vested one year from the date of grant, expire five years from the date of grant and had an aggregate grant
date fair value of $145,000, which was recognized ratably over the vesting period.

 
 · Options to its Chief Executive Officer to purchase 180,395 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $1.40 per share. These options were

granted in September 2020, vested immediately, expire five years from the date of grant and had an aggregate grant date fair value of $100,000,
which was fully recognized on the date of grant.

 
 · Options to an employee to purchase 27,329 shares of its common stock at an exercise price of $1.42 per share. These options were granted in

August 2020, vest ratably over two years, expire five years from the date of grant and had an aggregate grant date fair value of $20,000, which is
being recognized ratably over the vesting period.

 
The options granted during Fiscal 2020 had a weighted average grant date fair value of $0.58 per share. The Company recognized compensation expense

for stock option awards of $69,000 and $245,000 during Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, respectively, in its consolidated statements of operations.
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During Fiscal 2021 and 2020, respectively, the Company issued 177,000 and 50,000 shares of its common stock pursuant to the exercise of stock options
for aggregate cash proceeds of $268,000 and $32,000, which had an aggregate intrinsic value of $306,000 and $33,000.

 
At September 30, 2021, there was $4,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested stock option awards that is expected to be recognized

over a weighted average period of 0.9 years.
  
The following table summarizes stock option activity during Fiscal 2021: 

                
     Weighted   Weighted     
     Average   Average   Aggregate  
  Number of   Exercise   Remaining   Intrinsic  
  Options   Price   Life (Yrs.)   Value  
Outstanding at September 30, 2020   1,138,000  $ 1.49         

Granted   –  $ –         
Exercised   (177,000)  $ 1.51         
Forfeited   (1,000)  $ 1.67         
Expired   (32,000)  $ 3.30         

Outstanding at September 30, 2021   928,000  $ 1.43   2.8  $ 895,000 
                 
Exercisable at September 30, 2021   915,000  $ 1.43   2.8  $ 881,000 

 
Options outstanding at September 30, 2021 have an exercise price between $1.13 and $1.67 per share.  
 

NOTE 10      INCOME TAXES
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s consolidated provision/(benefit) for U.S. federal, state and foreign taxes on income:  

        
  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020  

Current:         
Federal  $ –  $ (4,000)
State   –   13,000 
Foreign   –   – 

         
Deferred:         

Federal   (506,000)   414,000 
State   (47,000)   82,000 
Foreign   (146,000)   283,000 

  (699,000)   788,000 
Change in valuation allowance   699,000   (779,000)
Income tax provision/(benefit)  $ –  $ 9,000 
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The deferred tax provision/(benefit) is the change in the deferred tax assets and liabilities representing the tax consequences of changes in the amounts of
temporary differences, net operating loss carryforwards and changes in tax rates during the fiscal year. The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are
comprised of the following: 

        
  September 30,  
  2021   2020  

Deferred tax assets         
Net operating losses  $ 2,093,000  $ 1,812,000 
Share-based compensation   175,000   180,000 
Excess tax over book basis in inventory   43,000   20,000 
Reserves and other allowances   569,000   155,000 
Accrued compensation   15,000   70,000 
Depreciation   –   31,000 
Interest expense limitation   40,000   – 
Other items   16,000   21,000 

Total deferred tax assets   2,951,000   2,289,000 
         

Deferred tax liabilities         
Depreciation   (18,000)   – 
Prepaid expenses   (131,000)   (58,000)
Intangible assets   (216,000)   (245,000)
481 Election (IPS)   –   (99,000)

Total deferred tax liabilities   (365,000)   (402,000)
Valuation allowance   (2,586,000)   (1,887,000)
Net deferred tax assets  $ –  $ – 

 
The Company recorded a provision for income taxes which includes net expense of $0 and $9,000 in Fiscal 2021 and 2020, respectively. The Fiscal 2020

net expense of $9,000 includes state income tax expenses of $13,000, partially offset by a $4,000 refund of the remaining unused balance of alternative
minimum tax (“AMT”) credits. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, AMT was repealed. The tax code in turn provided for a refund of the tax credits that
existed on December 31, 2017 at a 50% rate in tax years 2018, 2019 and 2020, with any remaining credits being fully refundable in 2021. The CARES Act
allowed corporations to immediately claim unused AMT credits on their 2019 tax return. State income tax expense was the result of taxable income in states
where net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) were not available.
 

At September 30, 2021, the Company had available net NOLs for U.S. federal income tax purposes of $7,220,000 and NOLs for state income tax purposes
of $1,000,000. NOLs generated prior to 2018 expire beginning in 2031 while NOLs generated after 2018 have an indefinite carryforward period. The NOLs
result in a deferred tax asset with respect to U.S. federal income taxes of $1,790,000. In addition, at September 30, 2021, the Company had available NOLs for
foreign income tax purposes of $1,427,000, resulting in a deferred tax asset of $260,000, expiring through 2024. Total net deferred tax assets, before valuation
allowance, were $2,586,000 and $1,887,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Undistributed earnings of the Company's foreign subsidiaries are
considered permanently reinvested; therefore, in accordance with U.S. GAAP, no provision for U.S. federal and state income taxes would result. In Fiscal 2021,
Forward Switzerland had a net loss for tax purposes of $25,000 and Forward UK had net income for tax purposes of $10,000.
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At September 30, 2021, as part of its periodic evaluation of the necessity to maintain a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, and after
consideration of all factors, including, among others, projections of future taxable income, current year NOL utilization and the extent of the Company's
cumulative losses in recent years, the Company determined that, on a more likely than not basis, it would not be able to use remaining deferred tax assets,
except with respect to the U.S. federal income taxes in the event the Company elects to effect repatriation of certain foreign source income of Forward
Switzerland, which income is currently considered to be permanently reinvested and for which no U.S. tax liability has been accrued. Accordingly, the
Company has determined to maintain a full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the valuation allowance
was $2,586,000 and $1,887,000, respectively. In the future, the utilization of the Company's NOLs may be subject to certain change of control limitations. If
the Company determines that it will be able to use some or all of its deferred tax assets in a future reporting period, the adjustment to reduce or eliminate the
valuation allowance would reduce its income tax expense and increase after-tax income.

 
The significant elements contributing to the difference between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate and the Company’s effective tax rate are as follows: 

        
  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020  

U.S. federal statutory rate   21.0%   21.0% 
State tax rate, net of federal benefit   (8.3%)   (1.9%)
Foreign rate differential   (2.6%)   (14.9%)
Tax return to provision adjustments   (78.8%)   (12.7%)
Effect of state tax rate change   (7.8%)   1.5% 
Change in valuation allowance   129.9%   41.1% 
State income taxes   0.0%   (0.7%)
Permanent differences   (53.4%)   (33.9%)

         
Effective tax rate   0.0%   (0.5%)
 
In December 2020, the Company received approval of its application for forgiveness of its note payable related to the Paycheck Protection Program (the

“PPP loan”) in the aggregate principal amount of $1,357,000, which will not be recognized as taxable income pursuant to the CARES Act. Pursuant to the
Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, which was enacted by Congress and signed into law by the President on December 27, 2020, all expenses utilizing
funds from PPP loans will be deductible against taxable income.

 
At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had not accrued any interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions. It is the Company's policy to

recognize interest and/or penalties, if any, related to income tax matters in income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations. For the periods
presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, no material income tax related interest or penalties were assessed or recorded. All fiscal
years prior to the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 are closed to federal and state examination.
 
NOTE 11        EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE
 

Basic earnings/loss per share data for each period presented is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during each such period. Diluted loss per share data is computed using the weighted average number of common and dilutive common equivalent shares
outstanding during each period. Dilutive common equivalent shares consist of shares that would be issued upon the exercise of stock options and warrants,
computed using the treasury stock method.
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A reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings/loss per share is as follows: 
        

  For the Fiscal Years Ended  
  September 30,  
  2021   2020  
Numerator:       

Net income/(loss)  $ 524,000  $ (1,775,000)
         
Denominator:         

Weighted average common shares outstanding   9,950,000   9,583,000 
Dilutive common share equivalents   493,000   – 

Weighted average dilutive shares outstanding   10,443,000   9,583,000 
         
Earnings/(loss) per share:         

Basic  $ 0.05  $ (0.19)
Diluted  $ 0.05  $ (0.19)

 
There were no anti-dilutive securities excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share in Fiscal 2021. The following securities were excluded

from the calculation of diluted earnings per share in Fiscal 2020 because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive: 
    

  Fiscal 2020  
Options   1,138,000 
Warrants   151,000 
Total potentially dilutive shares   1,289,000 

 
NOTE 12        COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
 
Guarantee Obligation

 
In February 2010, Forward Switzerland and its European logistics provider (freight forwarding and customs agent) entered into a Representation

Agreement (the “Representation Agreement”) whereby, among other things, the European logistics provider agreed to act as Forward Switzerland's fiscal
representative in The Netherlands for the purpose of providing services in connection with any value added tax matters. As part of this agreement, Forward
Switzerland agreed to provide an undertaking (in the form of a bank letter of guarantee) to the logistics provider with respect to any value added tax liability
arising in The Netherlands that the logistics provider is required to pay to Dutch tax authorities on its behalf.

 
In February 2010, Forward Switzerland entered into a guarantee agreement with a Swiss bank relating to the repayment of any amount up to €75,000

(equal to approximately $87,000 at September 30, 2021) paid by such bank to the logistics provider in order to satisfy such undertaking pursuant to the bank
letter of guarantee. Forward Switzerland would be required to perform under the guarantee agreement only in the event that (i) a value added tax liability is
imposed on the Company's revenues in The Netherlands; (ii) the logistics provider asserts that it has been called upon in its capacity as surety by the Dutch
Receiver of Taxes to pay such taxes; (iii) Forward Switzerland or the Company on its behalf fails or refuses to remit the amount of value added tax due to the
logistics provider upon its demand; and (iv) the logistics provider makes a drawing under the bank letter of guarantee. Under the Representation Agreement,
Forward Switzerland agreed that the letter of guarantee would remain available for drawing for three years following the date that its relationship terminates
with the logistics provider to satisfy any value added tax liability arising prior to expiration of the Representation Agreement but asserted by The Netherlands
after expiration.

 
 

 F-23  



 

 
FORWARD INDUSTRIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

The initial term of the bank letter of guarantee expired February 28, 2011, but it renews automatically for one-year periods on February 28 of each
subsequent year unless Forward Switzerland provides the Swiss bank with written notice of termination at least 60 days prior to the renewal date. It is the intent
of Forward Switzerland and the logistics provider that the bank letter of guarantee amount be adjusted annually. In consideration of the issuance of the letter of
guarantee, Forward Switzerland has granted the Swiss bank a security interest in all of its assets on deposit with, held by, or credited to Forward Switzerland’s
accounts with, the Swiss bank (approximately $436,000 at September 30, 2021). At September 30, 2021, the Company had not incurred a liability in
connection with this guarantee.
 
Legal Proceedings
 

On August 21, 2020, IPS was named a third-party defendant in a patent dispute claim currently pending in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District
of New York. The complaint, which contains no specific amount of claimed monetary damages, asserts that certain intellectual property was misappropriated
by IPS and one of its former employees.  In October 2021, the Court ruled that the misappropriation claim was invalid. The remaining allegation is that IPS
breached a non-disclosure agreement with a party to the case. IPS denies the allegations, believes the action is without merit and intends to vigorously defend
it. The Company has filed a motion to dismiss.

 
From time to time, the Company may become a party to other legal actions or proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. At September 30, 2021,

there were no such actions or proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, that, if decided adversely to its interests, the Company believes would be
material to its business.

 
NOTE 13      LEASES
 

The Company’s operating leases are primarily for corporate, sales and administrative office space. Total operating lease expense in Fiscal 2021 was
$611,000, of which $55,000 was recorded in sales and marketing expenses and $556,000 was recorded in general and administrative expenses on the
consolidated statements of operations. Total operating lease expense in Fiscal 2020 was $562,000, of which $7,000 was recorded in sales and marketing
expenses and $555,000 was recorded in general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of operations.  Cash paid for amounts included in
operating lease liabilities in Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, which have been included in cash flows from operating activities, was $489,000 and $495,000,
respectively.
 

The Company leases certain computer equipment through finance lease agreements expiring through July 2022. The net book value of assets under finance
leases was $14,000 and $23,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The remaining finance lease liability at September 30, 2021 was $2,000 and due
to immateriality, no additional disclosures are made for finance leases.

  
At September 30, 2021, the Company’s operating leases had a weighted average remaining lease term of 9.3 years and a weighted average discount rate of

5.7%.
 
Future minimum payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

    
Fiscal 2022  $ 554,000 
Fiscal 2023   554,000 
Fiscal 2024   565,000 
Fiscal 2025   531,000 
Fiscal 2026   510,000 
Thereafter   2,398,000 
Total future minimum lease payments   5,112,000 
Less imputed interest   (1,213,000)
Total  $ 3,899,000 
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NOTE 14       RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Buying Agency and Supply Agreement

 
The Company has a Buying Agency and Supply Agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with Forward China. The Supply Agreement provides that, upon the

terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, Forward China will act as the Company’s exclusive buying agent and supplier of Products (as defined in
the Supply Agreement) in the Asia-Pacific region. The Company purchases products at Forward China’s cost and also pays to Forward China a monthly service
fee equal to the sum of (i) $100,000, and (ii) 4% of “Adjusted Gross Profit”, which is defined as the selling price less the cost from Forward China. The Supply
Agreement expires October 22, 2023. Terence Wise, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Company, is the owner of Forward China. In addition, Jenny
P. Yu, a Managing Director of Forward China, beneficially owns more than 5% of the Company’s common stock. The Company recorded service fees to
Forward China of $1,404,000 and $1,363,000 during Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, respectively, which are included as a component of cost of sales upon sales
of the related products.

 
The Company has a separate agreement with Forward China to address the potential impact of customers sourcing directly from Forward China. In the

event a customer bypasses the services of the Company and does business directly with Forward China, Forward China will pay a commission of 50% of the
net revenue, less direct costs, generated from the products or services sold. The Company recognized revenue of $12,000 of commissions related to this
agreement in Fiscal 2021. No commissions were recognized in Fiscal 2020.

 
The Company had prepayments to Forward China for inventory purchases of $317,000 and $107,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which

are included in prepaid expenses and other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
 
Promissory Note

 
On January 18, 2018, the Company issued a $1,600,000 unsecured promissory note payable to Forward China in order to fund the acquisition of IPS. The

promissory note bears interest at a rate of 8% per annum and had an original maturity date of January 18, 2019. Monthly interest payments commenced on
February 18, 2018. The Company incurred and paid $128,000 in interest expense associated with this note in both Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020. The maturity
date of this note was extended to December 31, 2022. The maturity date of the note has been extended on several occasions to assist the Company with
liquidity.
 
Related Party Sales

 
A member of the Company’s Audit, Governance and Compensation Committees of its Board of Directors is also a member of the Board of Directors of a

company to whom the Company’s OEM distribution segment sold products during Fiscal 2021. The Company recognized revenue of $63,000 from the sale of
such products during Fiscal 2021.

 
During Fiscal 2020, the Company’s design division provided services to a customer whose former Chief Operating and Financial Officer and equity owner

is an immediate family member of a director on the Company’s Board of Directors. The director is a member on the Board’s Audit, Governance and
Compensation Committees. The Company sold design services to this customer of $44,000 in Fiscal 2020. There were no sales to this customer in Fiscal 2021
and no outstanding receivables from this customer at September 30, 2021 or 2020.
 
Related Party Activity
 

In October 2020, the Company began selling smart-enabled furniture, which is sourced by Forward China and sold in the U.S. under the Koble brand
name. The Koble brand is owned by The Justwise Group Ltd., a company owned by Terence Wise, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Company. The
Company recognized revenues from the sale of Koble products of $1,493,000 in Fiscal 2021.
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NOTE 15        401(k) PLAN

 
The Company maintains a 401(k) benefit plan allowing eligible employees to make pre-tax contributions of a portion of their salary in amounts subject to

IRS limitations. The Company made immediately vested matching contributions of $331,000 in Fiscal 2021, of which $260,000 was recorded to cost of sales
and $71,000 was recorded to general and administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations. The Company made immediately vested
matching contributions of $269,000 during Fiscal 2020, of which $223,000 was recorded to cost of sales and $46,000 was recorded to general and
administrative expenses on the consolidated statement of operations.

 
NOTE 16        SEGMENTS AND CONCENTRATIONS
 
Segments

 
The Company has three reportable segments: OEM distribution, retail distribution and design. See Note 2 for more information on the composition and

accounting policies of our reportable segments.
 
Our chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) regularly reviews revenue and operating income for each segment to assess financial results and allocate

resources. In Fiscal 2021, due to the growth of our retail division, we determined it to be a separate reportable segment. For our OEM and retail distribution
segments, we exclude general and administrative and general corporate expenses from their measure of profitability as these expenses are not allocated to the
segments and therefore not included in the measure of profitability used by the CODM. For the design segment, general and administrative expenses directly
attributable to that segment are included in its measure of profitability as these expenses are included in the measure of its profitability reviewed by the CODM.
We do not include intercompany activity in our segment results shown below to be consistent with the information that is presented to the CODM. Segment
assets consist of accounts receivable and inventory, which are regularly reviewed by the CODM, as well as goodwill and intangible assets resulting from design
segment acquisitions.

 
The Fiscal 2020 results of operations for each segment discussed below have been reformatted from what was previously disclosed to segregate the retail

distribution segment and exclude general corporate expenses from segment operating income to show them as a reconciling item so that results are comparable
to the current year presentation.

 
Information by segment and related reconciliations are shown in tables below: 

        
  Revenues  
  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020  
OEM distribution  $ 19,290,000  $ 19,726,000 
Retail distribution   3,183,000   1,026,000 
Design   16,549,000   13,726,000 

Total segment revenues  $ 39,022,000  $ 34,478,000 
 

  Operating Income/(Loss)  
  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020  
OEM distribution  $ 1,479,000  $ 1,616,000 
Retail distribution   (779,000)   (337,000)
Design   603,000   (378,000)

Total segment operating income   1,303,000   901,000 
General corporate expenses   (2,068,000)   (2,883,000)

Total loss from operations   (765,000)   (1,982,000)
Other income, net   (1,289,000)   (216,000)

Income/(loss) before income taxes  $ 524,000  $ (1,766,000)
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  Depreciation and Amortization  
  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020  
OEM distribution  $ 7,000  $ 7,000 
Retail distribution   1,000   – 
Design   319,000   265,000 

Total  $ 327,000  $ 272,000 
 

  Segment Assets  
  September 30,  
  2021   2020  
OEM distribution  $ 5,898,000  $ 5,103,000 
Retail distribution   2,178,000   416,000 
Design   5,824,000   6,649,000 

Total segment assets   13,900,000   12,168,000 
General corporate assets   5,956,000   7,188,000 

Total assets  $ 19,856,000  $ 19,356,000 
 

Geographic Concentrations
 
The Company’s long-lived assets consist of property and equipment and operating lease right of use assets, all of which are located in the United States.

The following table sets forth our consolidated net revenues by country for Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020: 
        

  Revenues  
  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020  
United States  $ 25,670,000  $ 21,017,000 
China   5,640,000   5,093,000 
Germany   2,787,000   3,375,000 
Poland   3,111,000   2,675,000 
Other foreign countries   1,814,000   2,318,000 
Total  $ 39,022,000  $ 34,478,000 

  
Customer Concentrations
 

In Fiscal 2021 and Fiscal 2020, the Company had significant customers in the OEM distribution segment whose individual percentage of the Company’s
consolidated revenues and accounts receivable was 10% or greater.

 
The following customers or their affiliates or contract manufacturers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s consolidated net revenues for Fiscal

2021 and Fiscal 2020: 
        

  Fiscal 2021   Fiscal 2020  
Customer A  $ 5,343,000  $ 6,145,000 
Customer B   3,913,000   3,448,000 
Customer C   5,111,000   4,912,000 
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The following customers or their affiliates or contract manufacturers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s consolidated accounts receivable at

September 30, 2021 and 2020:
 
  September 30,  
  2021   2020  
Customer A  $ 1,454,000  $ 977,000 
Customer B   1,259,000   966,000 
Customer C   1,138,000   843,000 
 

Supplier Concentration
 
The Company’s OEM and retail distribution segments procure substantially all their products through independent suppliers in China through Forward

China. Depending on the product, Forward China may require several different suppliers to furnish component parts or pieces.
 

NOTE 17         LINE OF CREDIT
 
The Company, specifically IPS, has a $1,300,000 revolving line of credit which was renewed in May 2021. The line of credit has a maturity date of May

31, 2022, is guaranteed by the Company and is secured by all of IPS’ assets. The interest rate on the line of credit is 0.75% above The Wall Street Journal prime
rate. The effective interest rate was 4.0% at both September 30, 2021 and 2020. In March 2021, the Company paid down the outstanding balance on the line of
credit and $1,300,000 was available at September 30, 2021. The Company is subject to certain debt-service ratio requirements which are measured annually.
The Company was in compliance with such covenants at September 30, 2021.
 
NOTE 18         DEBT
 

On April 18, 2020, the Company entered into a PPP loan in an aggregate principal amount of $1,357,000. The loan was unsecured, bore interest at a rate of
1.0% per annum and was scheduled to mature on April 18, 2022. The Company accounted for the proceeds as a loan and the current and long-term portions of
$827,000 and $530,000, respectively, are included in the corresponding categories of notes payable on the consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2020. In
October 2020, the Company filed for forgiveness of this loan and in December 2020, the SBA approved its forgiveness request. The forgiveness has been
accounted for as an extinguishment of debt and the resulting gain has been recorded as forgiveness of note payable on the consolidated statement of operations
for Fiscal 2021. There is a six-year period during which the SBA can review the Company’s forgiveness.

 
In connection with the acquisition of Kablooe, the Company assumed a loan payable with a principal amount of $170,000. The loan matured in August

2021, bore interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum and was secured by all of Kablooe’s assets. Interest and principal payments of $15,000 were payable monthly
until maturity. The outstanding balance at September 30, 2021 and 2020 was $0 and $156,000, respectively.
 
NOTE 19         MOONI AGREEMENT

 
On January 29, 2019, the Company entered into a three-year Distribution Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Mooni International AB and its owner. In

accordance with the Agreement, the Company: (i) was appointed as the exclusive distributor of Mooni's current and future products (including future products
developed or offered by Mooni and/or the owner) in North America, (ii) subject to certain repayment requirements, paid a fee of $400,000 to Mooni, and (iii)
was granted an option to purchase a controlling interest of Mooni at a valuation not to exceed $5 million which, if exercised, would be effective on the 12
month anniversary of the effective date of the Agreement. This option was not exercised and therefore expired. Additionally, Forward China, a company owned
by Terence Wise, the Company's Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, was named the designated supplier under the Agreement.

 
The Company generated revenues from this agreement of $198,000 and $263,000 in Fiscal 2021 and 2020, respectively. The current and long-term

portions of the unamortized fee of $44,000 and $0, respectively, at September 30, 2021 and $133,000 and $45,000, respectively, at September 30, 2020, are
included in prepaid and other current assets and other assets, respectively, in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of the cost in Fiscal
2021 and Fiscal 2020 was $133,000 and is included in sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Exhibit 10.4(a)
 

FORM OF EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 
This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of May 26, 2021, between Forward Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) and [Mitch Maiman]
[Paul Severino] (the “Executive”).
 
RECITALS:
 
WHEREAS, the Company desires to employ the Executive pursuant to the terms and conditions and for the consideration set forth in this Agreement, and the
Executive desires to be employed by the Company pursuant to such terms and conditions and for such consideration.
 
In consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which the parties hereby
acknowledge, the parties agree as follows:
 
1.    EMPLOYMENT TERM
 
The term of employment hereunder (the “Term”) shall commence on the date hereof (“Employment Commencement Date”) and shall continue for one year
thereafter, unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement; provided that, on such one year anniversary of this Agreement and each
annual anniversary thereafter (such date and each annual anniversary thereafter, a “Renewal Date”), this Agreement shall be automatically renewed, upon the
same terms and conditions, for successive one-year periods, unless either party provides written notice of its intention not to renew this Agreement at least six
months prior to the applicable Renewal Date (the “Six Month Trigger Date”).  If either party notifies the other party on or prior to the Six Month Trigger Date
of their intention to renew the Term of this Agreement with rights, obligations and/or conditions which are different than those provided for herein, the parties
shall have 60 days from the Six Month Trigger Date to agree in writing on such renegotiated rights, obligations and/or conditions.
 
2.    EMPLOYMENT DUTIES AND SERVICES
 
The Company hereby employs the Executive as its President, Intelligent Product Solutions, Inc. (“IPS”), for the Term of this Agreement and any renewal(s)
thereof, and the Executive hereby accepts such employment. In such position, the Executive shall have such duties, authority, and responsibilities as shall be
determined from time to time by the Forward Group’s Chief Executive Officer (“Chief Executive Officer”) and the Board of Directors of the Company (the
“Board”), which duties, authority, and responsibilities are consistent with the Executive's position. The Executive shall serve the Company faithfully and to the
best of his ability and shall devote his time and attention to the business and affairs of the Company, subject to reasonable absences for vacation and illness in
accordance with Company policies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to the Executive’s obligations and negative covenants set forth herein, including
without limitation Section 9 hereof, the Executive may with the prior written consent of the Chairman of the Board, act or serve as a director, trustee,
committee member, or principal of any type of business,; provided that any such activities do not interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties and
responsibilities to the Company or its subsidiaries as provided hereunder, including as set forth in this Section 2.
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3.    COMPENSATION AND EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT
 

(a)    Salary. The Executive shall be entitled to receive for all services rendered by the Executive in any and all capacities in connection with the
Executive’s employment hereunder a salary (as it may be adjusted from time to time, “Salary”) at the rate of $[251,000] per annum, payable in equal
instalments in accordance with the prevailing practices of the Company (but not less frequently than monthly).
 
(b)   Bonus: Calculation and Payment.

 
(i) The Executive shall be eligible to receive a (“Bonus”) with respect to each full fiscal year or part thereof (subject to Sections 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7
hereof) in respect of his employment hereunder, as set forth in this Section 3. The amount of Bonus, if any, that the Executive is eligible to earn in any
fiscal year during the Term hereof pursuant to this Section 3(b) shall be based on the bonus plan, fiscal targets and performance metrics of Intelligent
Product Solutions, Inc. a subsidiary of the Company (“IPS”), that the Compensation Committee of the Board adopts, in its sole discretion, from year
to year. During the Term, in addition to the Salary, for each fiscal year of the Company ending during the Term, the Executive shall be eligible to
receive, at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committee, a performance bonus based on a combination of both IPS financial performance (“IPS
Performance Bonus”) and individual performance (“Individual Performance Bonus”), (collectively, the “Bonus”). Applicable and specific Company
and Individual performance criteria for the Executive will be determined by the Compensation Committee based on its consultation with the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer (who also shall consult with the Executive) and such criteria will be set forth in writing annually. The
Compensation Committee shall review the proposed performance goals and other metrics proposed by the Chief Executive Officer and shall approve
or provide alternative goals and metrics within 10 business days of receiving the Chief Executive Officer’s proposed performance goals and metrics..
 
The Executive’s IPS Performance Bonus, if awarded, shall be paid to the Executive in cash, and the Executive’s Individual Performance Bonus may
be awarded to the Executive in a combination of cash, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock options, and/or other equity, the combination and
vesting of which shall be determined by the Compensation Committee in its sole discretion.
 
(ii) The Compensation Committee shall have the authority to pay the Executive a discretionary bonus from time to time based upon the Executive’s
and IPS’ performance. In awarding any such discretionary bonus the Compensation Committee will consult with the Chief Executive Officer.

 
(c)    Expenses. Subject to the provisions of Section 3(a) hereof, the Executive will be reimbursed for all reasonable and necessary expenses incurred by
the Executive in carrying out the duties contemplated under this Agreement, in accordance with Company practices and procedures in effect from time to
time, as such practices may be changed from time to time by the Board. In addition, $900 per month incidental expense shall be allowable.
 
(d)   Benefits. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in all group health and other insurance programs and all other fringe benefits (including 20
days’ paid time off) and retirement plans (including any 401(k) plan) or other compensatory plans that the Company may hereafter elect to make available
to its executives generally on terms no less favorable than those provided to other executives generally, provided the Executive meets the qualifications
therefor. This Agreement shall not require the Company to establish any such program or plan.
 
(e)    Withholding. All payments required to be made by the Company hereunder to the Executive shall be subject to the withholding of authorized
deductions and such amounts relating to taxes and other governmental assessments as the Company may reasonably determine it should withhold pursuant
to any applicable law, rule or regulation.
 
(f)     Internal Revenue Code Section 409A compliance. The intent of the parties is that payments and benefits under this Agreement comply with, or be
exempt from, Internal Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (collectively “Code Section 409A”) and,
accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, this Agreement shall be interpreted to be in compliance therewith.
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(i) A termination of employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of any provision of this Agreement providing for the payment of
any amounts or benefits upon or following a termination of employment that are considered “nonqualified deferred compensation” under Code
Section 409A unless such termination is also a “separation from service” within the meaning of Code Section 409A and, for purposes of any such
provision of this Agreement, references to a “termination,” “termination of employment” or like terms shall mean “separation from service.” If the
Executive is deemed on the date of termination to be a “specified employee” within the meaning of that term under Code Section 409A(a)(2)(B), then
with regard to any payment that is considered non-qualified deferred compensation under Code Section 409A payable on account of a “separation
from service,” such payment or benefit shall be made or provided at the date which is the earlier of (A) the expiration of the six (6) month period
measured from the date of such “separation from service” of the Executive, and (B) thirty (30) days from the date of the Executive’s death (the “Delay
Period”).
 
(ii)                     With regard to any provision herein that provides for reimbursement of costs and expenses or in-kind benefits, except as permitted by
Code Section 409A, (i) the right to reimbursement or in-kind benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit, (ii) the
amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement, or in-kind benefits, provided during any taxable year shall not affect the expenses eligible for
reimbursement, or in-kind benefits to be provided, in any other taxable year, provided that the foregoing clause (ii) shall not be violated without regard
to expenses reimbursed under any arrangement covered by Internal Revenue Code Section 105(b) solely because such expenses are subject to a limit
related to the period the arrangement is in effect and (iii) such payments shall be made on or before the last day of the Executive’s taxable year
following the taxable year in which the expense occurred.
 
(iii)                   For purposes of Code Section 409A, the Executive’s right to receive any installment payments pursuant to this Agreement shall be
treated as a right to receive a series of separate and distinct payments. Whenever a payment under this Agreement specifies a payment period with
reference to a number of days (e.g., “within sixty (60) days following the date of termination”), the actual date of payment within the specified period
shall be within the sole discretion of the Company.”

 
(g) Clawback Provisions. Notwithstanding any other provisions in this Agreement to the contrary, any incentive-based compensation, or any other
compensation, paid to the Executive pursuant to this Agreement or any other agreement or arrangement with the Company which is subject to recovery
under any law, government regulation, or stock exchange listing requirement, will be subject to such deductions and clawback as may be required to be
made pursuant to such law, government regulation, or stock exchange listing requirement (or any policy adopted by the Company pursuant to any such
law, government regulation or stock exchange listing requirement). This Section 3(g) shall not apply to any of the shares acquired by the Executive
pursuant to the acquisition of IPS by the Company.

 
4. TERMINATION BY THE COMPANY FOR CAUSE
 

(a) The Board may, by written notice given at any time during the Term, or any renewal thereof, terminate the employment of the Executive for Cause, as
determined by the Board. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” shall mean the Executive’s:

 
(i) willful misconduct in connection with the performance of any of his duties or services hereunder, including without limitation (1) misappropriation
or improper diversion of funds, rights or property of the Company or any subsidiary, or (2) securing or attempting to secure personally (including for
the benefit of any family member, or person sharing the same household, or any entity (corporate, partnership, unincorporated association,
proprietorship, limited liability company, trust, or otherwise) in which the Executive has any economic or beneficial interest) any profit or benefit in
connection with any transaction entered into on behalf of the Company or any subsidiary unless the transaction benefiting the entity has been
approved by the Board upon the basis of full disclosure of such benefit, or (3) material breach of (x) any provision of this Agreement or (y) the
Company’s Insider Trading Policy or Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or other material policy or procedure of the Company or any subsidiary, as
in effect from time to time, or (4) any other action in violation of the Executive’s fiduciary duty owed to the Company or any subsidiary or the
Executive’s acting in a manner adverse to the interests of the Company or any subsidiary and for his own pecuniary benefit or that of a family member
(or member of his household) or any entity (as described in clause (i)(2) of Section 4(a) above) in which he or any such person has an economic or
beneficial interest or (5) the Executive’s failure to cooperate, if requested by the Board, with any investigation or inquiry into his or the Company’s or
any subsidiary’s business practices, whether internal or external.
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(ii)              willful failure, neglect or refusal to perform his duties or services under this Agreement, which failure, neglect or refusal shall continue for
a period of 15 calendar days after written notice thereof shall have been given to the Executive by or on behalf of the Board; and/or
 
(iii)            commission of, conviction of, or nolo contendere or guilty plea in connection with, a felony or a crime of moral turpitude.

 
(b) Termination for Cause under paragraph (a) of this Section 4 shall be effective immediately upon the giving of such written notice. For purposes of this
Agreement, an act or failure to act on the Executive’s part shall be considered “willful” if it was done or omitted to be done by him not in good faith.
 
(c) Upon termination of employment by the Company for Cause, the Executive shall be entitled to receive, and his sole remedies under this Agreement
shall be:

 
(i)               any earned and unpaid Salary accrued through the date of termination for Cause, payable in a lump sum not later than 15 calendar days
following the Executive’s termination of employment;
 
(ii)              compensation for any unused PTO days accrued in the fiscal year in which termination occurs through the date of termination, payable as
in clause (i) of this Section 4(c);
 
(iii)            except for any Bonus compensation (for which the Executive shall not be eligible), any unpaid benefits accrued through the day
immediately prior to the date of termination that may be due the Executive under any employee benefit plans or programs of the Company, payable in
accordance with the terms of such plans or programs, together with any documented, unreimbursed business expenses, payable in accordance with
Company policies; and
 
(iv)            any stock options, grants of common stock, restricted share grants or other benefits under any of the Company’s compensation plans may
not be exercised or obtained on or after the effective date of termination and shall be forfeited for no consideration.

 
(d) Termination of the Executive’s employment under this Section 4 shall be in addition to and not exclusive of any other rights and remedies that the
Company has or may have relating to the Executive with respect to the facts and circumstances pertaining to such termination.

 
5. TERMINATION BY THE EXECUTIVE FOR GOOD REASON OR TERMINATION BY THE COMPANY WITHOUT CAUSE
 

(a) In the event the Executive terminates his employment under this Agreement for Good Reason (as hereinafter defined), or in the event the Executive’s
employment is terminated by the Company without Cause (other than a nonrenewal under Section 1), which termination shall be effective as of the date
specified by the Company in written notice delivered to the Executive not fewer than 15 days prior to the date of termination) other than due to death or
Disability (as hereinafter defined), the Executive shall be entitled to receive, and his sole remedies under this Agreement shall be:

 
(i) any earned and unpaid Salary accrued through the date of termination, payable in a lump sum not later than 15 days following the Executive’s
termination of employment;
 
(ii)              Salary, at the annualized rate in effect on the date of termination of the Executive’s employment (or, in the event a reduction in Salary is a
basis for termination for Good Reason, then the Salary in effect immediately prior to such reduction), equal to the amount of Salary payable for a
period of six months, which may be reviewed and increased by the Board from time to time, following such termination, payable in a lump sum not
later than 15 days following the date the Release in Exhibit I becomes fully effective and irrevocable by its terms;
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(iii)             compensation for any unused vacation days accrued in the fiscal year in which termination occurs through the date of termination,
payable as in clause (i) of this Section 5(a);
 
(iv)             any unpaid benefits accrued through the day immediately prior to the date of termination that may be due the Executive under any
employee benefit plans or programs of the Company, payable in accordance with the terms of such plans or programs, together with any documented,
unreimbursed business expenses, payable in accordance with Company policies; and
 
(v)              provided that the Release in Exhibit I becomes fully effective and irrevocable by its terms, any stock options, grants of common stock,
restricted share grants or other benefits under any of the Company’s compensation plans that were vested as of 5:00 PM New York time on the date
immediately prior to the date of termination, which may be exercised (in the case of options) or delivered (in the case of restricted stock) in
accordance with the terms of such plans and any applicable plan agreements with the Executive shall remain fully exercisable for the remainder of
their full term.

 
(b)    Termination by the Executive for Good Reason shall be effected by his giving prior written notice to the Company, in which case this Agreement
shall terminate on the date specified in such notice; provided, however, that the circumstances or event asserted as the basis for termination for Good
Reason must have occurred no later than 20 days before such notice, and provided further that such notice shall specify (i) in reasonable detail the
circumstances or event asserted as the basis for termination for Good Reason, and (ii) a date of termination that shall be at least 30 days after the date of
delivery of such notice; and provided, further, that the Company shall have the right during such 30 day period to remedy the circumstances or event
giving rise to the notice of termination for Good Reason prior to the date specified in such notice, in which case no right under this Section 5 shall exist.
 
(c)    For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Good Reason” shall mean:

 
(i)               the assignment to the Executive without his consent of duties materially inconsistent with the Executive’s position as contemplated by
Section 2 of this Agreement;
 
(ii)              any failure by the Company to perform any material obligation under, or its breach of a material provision of, this Agreement; or
 
(iii)            pursuant to Section 12(b) of this Agreement, failure of any Successor to expressly assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same
manner and to the same extent as the Company would have had there been no Successor.

 
6. TERMINATION FOR DEATH OR DISABILITY
 

(a) The Executive’s employment shall terminate immediately upon his death or Disability (as hereinafter defined). Upon such termination, the Executive,
his estate, or his beneficiaries, as the case may be, shall be entitled to receive, and their sole remedies under this Agreement shall be:

 
(i)               subject to Section 6(b), any earned and unpaid Salary accrued through the date of termination, payable in a lump sum not later than 15
days following the Executive’s termination of employment;
 
(ii)              subject to Section 6(b), compensation for any unused vacation days accrued in the fiscal year in which termination occurs through the date
of termination, payable as in clause (i) of this Section 6(a);
 
(iii)            any unpaid benefits accrued through the date of termination that may be due the Executive under any employee benefit plans or programs
of the Company, payable in accordance with the terms of such plans or programs, together with any documented, unreimbursed business expenses,
payable in accordance with Company policies; and
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(iv)            provided that the Release in Exhibit I becomes fully effective and irrevocable by its terms (which may be executed upon the Executive’s
death or Disability by his executor or estate, as applicable), any stock options, grants of common stock, restricted share grants or other benefits under
any of the Company’s compensation plans that were vested as of 5:00 PM New York time on the date immediately prior to the date of termination,
which may be exercised (in the case of options) or delivered (in the case of restricted stock) in accordance with the terms of such plans and any
applicable plan agreements with the Executive shall remain fully exercisable for the remainder of their full term.

 
(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Disability” shall mean any disability, illness, or other incapacity that prevents the Executive from performing
services as contemplated by Section 2, for 60 or more consecutive days, or for an aggregate of 90 days in any consecutive 12-month period. In such event,
the Company shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon 10 days’ prior written notice to the Executive. During the period of any such disability,
illness, or incapacity, (i) the obligation of the Company to pay Salary to the Executive pursuant to Section 3 shall be reduced to the extent of any amount
received by the Executive pursuant to any disability insurance policy maintained and paid for by the Company or a subsidiary, and (ii) no bonus
compensation or other employee benefits shall accrue or be earned or count toward proration. Termination under this Section shall not prejudice any rights
of the Executive under disability policies, if any, being maintained by the Company for the Executive under the terms of this Agreement.

 
7. TERMINATION UPON EXPIRATION OF THE TERM
 

(a) The Executive’s employment shall terminate upon the expiration of the Term unless renewed under Section 1. Upon such termination, the Executive
shall be entitled to receive, and his sole remedies under this Agreement shall be:

 
(i)               any earned and unpaid Salary accrued through the date of termination, payable in a lump sum not later than 15 days following the
Executive’s termination of employment;
 
(ii)              compensation for any unused PTO days accrued as of date of termination occurs through the date of termination, payable as in clause (i) of
this Section 7(a);
 
(iii)            any unpaid benefits accrued through the date of termination that may be due the Executive under any employee benefit plans or programs
of the Company, payable in accordance with the terms of such plans or programs, together with any documented, unreimbursed business expenses,
payable in accordance with Company policies; and
 
(iv)            provided that the Release in Exhibit I becomes fully effective and irrevocable by its terms, any stock options, grants of common stock,
restricted share grants or other benefits under any of the Company’s compensation plans that were vested as of 5:00 PM New York time on the date
immediately prior to the date of termination, which may be exercised (in the case of options) or delivered (in the case of restricted stock) in
accordance with the terms of such plans and any applicable plan agreements with the Executive.

 
8. OBLIGATIONS UPON TERMINATION, ETC.
 

(a)    Upon the termination of employment for any reason hereunder, all provisions of this Agreement shall terminate except for Sections 8, 9, 10 and 11 of
this Agreement and the provisions contained in Exhibit I hereto, the terms of which shall survive such termination, and the Company shall have no further
obligation to the Executive hereunder, except as herein and therein expressly provided. The Company shall comply with the terms of settlement of all
deferred compensation arrangements to which the Executive is a party in accordance with his duly executed deferral election forms and plan provisions.
 
(b)    Subject to Sections 1 and 7, in the event of a termination of employment by the Executive on his own initiative during the Term or any renewal
thereof by delivery of written notice of such resignation 10 business days in advance, other than due to Disability or termination for Good Reason, the
Executive shall have the same entitlements as provided in Section 4, Termination by the Company for Cause.
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(c)    In the event of a termination of employment, payment made and performance by the Company in accordance with the provisions of Section 4, 5, 6, or
7 as the case may be, and this Section 8 shall operate to fully discharge and release the Company, its subsidiaries, its affiliates, and their respective
directors, officers, employees, shareholders, successors, assigns, agents, and representatives (all of the foregoing collectively, the “releasees”) from any
further obligation or liability with respect to the Executive’s rights under this Agreement. Other than payment and performance as aforesaid, none of the
releasees shall have any further obligation or liability to the Executive or any other person or entity arising out of termination of the Executive’s
employment under this Agreement except as expressly set forth in Exhibit I hereto. The Company’s payment of any severance or other amounts pursuant to
Section 4, 5, 6, 7, or 8 shall be subject to delivery by the Executive to the Company of a release in form and substance satisfactory to the Company
releasing any and all claims the Executive, his estate, representatives, and assigns may have against the Company and any other releasee arising out of this
Agreement, as substantially set forth in Exhibit I hereto.

 
9. COVENANTS

 
(a) The Executive agrees that during the Term, any renewal thereof, and for a 6-month period after expiration or termination of the Term or any renewal
thereof (except in the case of clause (a)(i) of this Section 9, as to which the Executive’s covenant shall not be limited in time), the Executive shall not,
without the express prior written consent of the Board, directly or indirectly, either individually or as an employee, officer, director, agent, partner,
shareholder, consultant, option holder, joint venture, contractor, nominee, lender, guarantor, investor, owner, or in any other capacity:

 
(i) except as required in the course of performing his duties hereunder, disclose, copy, divulge, furnish, distribute or make available in any medium
whatsoever to any firm, company, corporation, organization, or other entity or person (including but not limited to actual or potential customers or
competitors or government officials), or otherwise misappropriate trade secrets, intellectual property, or other confidential or non-public information
of or concerning the Company, its subsidiaries or the business of any of the foregoing, including without limitation, customer lists, product designs
and product know-how, launch information or plans pertaining to Company, its subsidiaries or customer products, arrangements for supplying
customers, methods of operation and organization, sources of supply and arrangements with vendors, product development, business plans and
strategies (collectively, “Confidential Information”); provided, however, the Executive may make disclosures as and to the extent required by
applicable law or compelled upon court or administrative order, provided, further, however, that in the event that the Executive is so required or
compelled to disclose Confidential Information, he shall notify the Company not fewer than 10 business days in advance of such disclosure in order to
afford it the reasonable opportunity to obtain a protective order or other remedy to limit the scope of such disclosure (it being understood and agreed
that, if such disclosure is required by applicable law, the Executive shall upon the Company’s request furnish the source and precedents with respect to
such requirement) and that in such event the Executive will furnish only that portion of the Confidential Information which he is reasonably advised in
writing by his counsel is legally required and will exercise all reasonable efforts to obtain reliable assurance that confidential treatment will be
accorded the Confidential Information to the extent possible. For purposes of this Section 9, information shall not be deemed confidential if it is
within the public domain or becomes publicly known other than through disclosure by the Executive in violation of this provision;
 
(ii)              own (or have any financial interest in, actual, contingent or otherwise), control, manage, operate, participate, engage in, invest in or
otherwise have any interest in, or otherwise be connected with, in any manner, any firm, company, corporation, organization, business, enterprise,
venture or other entity, association or person that is engaged in the business actually engaged in by the Company or its subsidiaries during the Term
or any renewal thereof, including without limitation the Company Business (as hereinafter defined);
 
(iii)             solicit, employ or retain or arrange, encourage, facilitate or assist to have any other firm, company, corporation, organization, business,
enterprise, venture or other entity, association or person solicit, employ, retain, or otherwise participate in the employment or retention of, any person
who is then, or who has been, within the preceding six months, an employee, consultant, sales representative, technician or engineer of the Company,
its subsidiaries, or joint venture counterparties.
 
(iv)             own (or have any financial interest in, actual, contingent, future, or otherwise), control, manage, operate, participate, engage in, invest in
or otherwise have any interest in or through, or otherwise be connected with, in any manner, any firm, company, corporation, organization,
association, business, enterprise, venture or other entity, or person that does or proposes to do any one or more of the following as it relates to of the
Company Business: (a)(i) engage in, do, or solicit business with, or (ii) interfere with or affect the Company’s (or any subsidiary’s) business
opportunities with, any of the customers with whom the Company (or any subsidiary) has done business with during the most recent two years, or (b)
(i) engage in, do, or solicit business with, or (ii) interfere with or affect the Company’s (or any subsidiary’s) business opportunities with, any of the
vendors with whom the Company (or any subsidiary) has done business with during the most recent two years.
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The term “Company Business” shall mean, at the date of the determination, the business of IPS and/or the design, engineering, development and
manufacturing of products and technology as presently conducted or contemplated by the Company and its subsidiaries as described in the Company’s
most recent Form 10-K as updated by its most recent Form 10-Q, each as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Nothing in this Section
9 shall be deemed to prohibit the Executive from the acquisition or holding of, solely as a passive stockholder, not more than 1% of the shares or other
securities of a publicly owned corporation if such securities are traded on a national securities exchange.
 
(v) Notice of Immunity Under the Economic Espionage Act of 1996, as amended by the Defend Trade Secrets Act of 2016. Notwithstanding any other
provision of this Agreement: (A) The Executive will not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for any
disclosure of a trade secret that: (1) is made (X) in confidence to a federal, state, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an
attorney; and (Y) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (2) is made in a complaint or other document
filed under seal in a lawsuit or other proceeding. (B) If the Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation
of law, the Executive may disclose the Company's trade secrets to the Executive's attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding
if the Executive: (1) files any document containing trade secrets under seal; and (2) does not disclose trade secrets, except pursuant to court order.

 
(b) The Executive, on the one hand, and the Company on the other hand, agree that they will not, directly or indirectly, make disparaging remarks about the
other party, including any of its subsidiaries, or their owners, officers, directors or employees, in their individual and representative capacities, or the Company
Business. The parties will not, directly or indirectly, issue or cooperate with issuance of any article, memorandum, release, interview, publicity, or statement,
whether oral or written of any kind, to the public, the press or the media, which in any way concerns, in a disparaging, offensive, or prejudicial manner, the
other party.
 
“Disparaging remarks” when used in this Agreement shall mean the publication of matter that is untrue or adversely affects the subject’s reputation, image or
goodwill. This Section will not be construed to prevent the parties from complying with any lawfully served and binding subpoena, provided however, that the
party forwards a copy of said subpoena(s) to the other party within 24 hours of receipt of the same, unless expressly prohibited by law or by order of a court of
competent jurisdiction from doing so.
 
(c)  Upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any reason, the Executive shall promptly deliver to the Company all documents, papers and
records in his possession relating to the business or affairs of the Company or any subsidiary and that he obtained or received in his capacity as an employee or
officer of the Company or any subsidiary or Affiliate and any other Company or subsidiary property or equipment in his possession or control.
 
(d) The Executive agrees that the Executive will cooperate with the Company, its subsidiaries, and each of their respective attorneys or other legal
representatives (“Company attorneys”) in connection with any claim, litigation, or judicial or arbitration proceeding which is now pending or may hereinafter
be brought against the Company or any of its subsidiaries by any third party. The Executive’s duty of cooperation shall include, but not be limited to (i)
meeting with Company attorneys by telephone or in person, at mutually convenient times and places, in order to state truthfully the Executive’s knowledge of
matters at issue and recollection of events; (ii) appearance by the Executive as a witness at depositions or trials, without necessity of a subpoena, in order to
state truthfully the Executive’s knowledge of matters at issues; and (iii) signing, upon the request of Company attorneys, declaration or affidavits that
truthfully state matters of which the Executive has knowledge. The Company shall reimburse the Executive for the Executive’s actual and reasonable travel
expenses which have been approved by the Company in writing in advance of the Executive incurring them in complying with the Executive’s obligations
pursuant to this Section.
 
(e)  In the event that either party shall violate or be in violation of any provision of this Section 9 (which provisions the parties hereby acknowledge are
reasonable and equitable), in addition to the parties right to exercise any and all remedies, legal and equitable, which it may have under applicable laws, the
Executive shall not be entitled to any, and hereby waives any and all rights to, each and every, termination payment or benefit under this Agreement.

 
(f) Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed to prevent the Executive from reporting any act or failure to act to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or other governmental body or prevent the Employee from obtaining a fee as a “whistleblower” under Rule 21F-17(a) under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934 or other rules or regulations implemented under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform Act and Consumer Protection Act.
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10. SEVERABILITY
 
The Executive acknowledges and agrees that the provisions of Section 9 hereof constitute independent, separable and severable covenants, for which the
Executive is receiving consideration, which shall survive the termination of employment, and which shall be enforceable by the Company notwithstanding any
rights or remedies the Company may have under any other provision hereof.
 
11. SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE

 
(a) The Executive acknowledges and agrees that:

 
(i)               the services to be rendered and covenants to be performed under this Agreement are of a special and unique character and that the
Company and any subsidiary would be irreparably harmed if such services were lost to it or if the Executive breached its obligations and covenants
hereunder;
 
(ii)              the Company and its subsidiaries are relying on the Executive’s performance of the covenants contained herein, including, without
limitation, those contained in Section 9 above, as a material inducement for its entering into this Agreement;
 
(iii)            the Company and its subsidiaries may be damaged if the provisions hereof are not specifically enforced; and
 
(iv)            the award of monetary damages may not adequately protect the Company and its subsidiaries in the event of a breach hereof by the
Executive.

 
(b) By virtue thereof, the Executive agrees and consents that if the Executive breaches any of the provisions of this Agreement, the Company and its
subsidiaries, in addition to any other rights and remedies available under this Agreement or under applicable laws, shall (without any bond or other security
being required and without the necessity of proving monetary damages) be entitled to a temporary and/or permanent injunction to be issued by a court of
competent jurisdiction restraining the Executive from committing or continuing any violation of this Agreement, or any other appropriate decree of
specific performance. Such remedies shall not be exclusive and shall be in addition to any other remedy that the Company and its subsidiaries may have.

 
12. MISCELLANEOUS
 

(a) Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement constitutes the entire employment agreement between the parties and may not be modified, amended
or terminated (other than pursuant to the terms hereof) except by a written instrument executed by the parties hereto. All other agreements, written or oral,
between the parties pertaining to the employment or remuneration of the Executive not specifically contemplated hereby or incorporated or merged herein
are hereby terminated and shall be of no further force or effect.
 
(b) Assignment; Successors. This Agreement is not assignable by the Executive and any purported assignment by the Executive of the Executive’s rights
and/or obligations under this Agreement shall be null and void. Except as provided below, this Agreement may be assigned by the Company at any time,
upon delivery of written notice to the Executive, to any successor to the business of the Company, or to any subsidiary. In the event that another
corporation or other business entity becomes a Successor of the Company, then this Agreement may not be assigned to such Successor unless the
Successor shall assume and agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent as the Company would be required to perform if
there had been no Successor. The term “Successor” as used herein shall mean any corporation or other business entity that succeeds to substantially all of
the assets or conducts the business of the Company, whether directly or indirectly, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise. This Agreement shall
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, successors and
permitted assigns.
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(c) Waivers. No waiver of any breach or default hereunder shall be considered valid unless in writing, and no such waiver shall be deemed a waiver of any
subsequent breach or default of the same or similar nature. The failure of any party to insist upon strict adherence to any term of this Agreement on any
occasion shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of the right to insist upon strict adherence to that term or any other term of this Agreement on that or
any other occasion.
 
(d) Provisions Overly Broad. In the event that any term or provision of this Agreement shall be deemed by a court of competent jurisdiction to be overly
broad in scope, duration or area of applicability, the court considering the same shall have the power and hereby is authorized and directed to modify such
term or provision to limit such scope, duration or area, or all of them, so that such term or provision is no longer overly broad and to enforce the same as so
limited. Subject to the foregoing sentence, in the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason,
such invalidity or unenforceability shall attach only to such provision and shall not affect or render invalid or unenforceable any other provision of this
Agreement.
 
(e) Notices. Any notice permitted or required hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been given on the date of delivery or, if mailed by
certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, documented overnight courier, or by email, on the date mailed or emailed.

 
(i)               If to the Executive to:
________________ (if delivered by any other physical means). Email: ______________.com
 
(ii)              If to the Company to:
 
700 Veterans Highway, Suite 100, Hauppague, NY 11788
Email: twise@forwardindustries.com
 
With a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Nason, Yeager, Gerson, Harris & Fumero, P.A.
Attn: Brian Bernstein
3001 PGA Blvd., Suite 305
Palm Beach Gardens, Florida 33410
Email: bbernstein@nasonyeager.com

 
(f) Law Governing; Jurisdiction and Venue. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York
governing contracts made and to be performed in New York without regard to conflict of law principles thereof. Any action or proceeding to enforce this
Agreement shall be brought only in a state or federal court located in the State of New York, County of Suffolk. The parties hereby irrevocably submit to
the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and waive the defense of inconvenient forum with respect to the maintenance of any such action or proceeding in
such venue.
 
(g)    Survival. All obligations of the Company to the Executive and the Executive to the Company shall terminate upon the termination of this Agreement,
except as expressly provided herein. The provisions of Sections 8, 9, 10 and 11 shall survive termination of this Agreement.
 
(h)   Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and each party may become a party hereto
by executing a counterpart hereof. This Agreement and any counterpart so executed shall be deemed to be one and the same instrument. It shall not be
necessary in making proof of this Agreement or any counterpart hereof to produce or account for any of the other counterparts. Facsimile or electronic
copies of this Agreement shall be of the same force and effect as the original.
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(i)     Approval. This Agreement is subject to prior review and approval of the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board.
 
(j)     Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only.
 
(k)    Representation. The Executive represents and warrants to the Company, and the Executive acknowledges that the Company has relied on such
representations and warranties in offering to employ the Executive, that neither the Executive’s duties as an employee of the Company nor his performance
of this Agreement will breach any other agreement to which the Executive is a party, including without limitation, any agreement limiting the use or
disclosure of any information acquired by the Executive prior to his employment by the Company. In addition, the Executive represents and warrants and
acknowledges that the Company has relied on such representations and warranties in employing the Executive that he has not entered into, and will not
enter into, any agreement, either oral or written, in conflict herewith. If it is determined that the Executive is in breach or has breached any of the
representations set forth herein, the Company shall have the right to terminate the Executive’s employment for Cause.

 
13. Indemnification and Liability Insurance. The Company shall indemnify and cover the Executive under the Company’s directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance during the Term in the same amount and to the same extent as the Company indemnifies and covers its other officers and directors.
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and the Executive have executed this Agreement as of the date and year first above written.
 
THE EXECUTIVE
 
_________________________
EMAIL: __________________________.com
 
FORWARD INDUSTRIES, INC.
 

By:       [_________________] Terry Wise          Chief Executive Officer
 
Address:

 
Email:
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A-I
 
EXHIBIT I
 
1.  Release. This Release of Claims (the “Release”) is entered into by you as a condition precedent to receiving the severance and severance related benefits
provided in the Employment Agreement to which this Exhibit I relates (the “Employment Agreement”). In exchange for the receipt of the severance and
severance related benefits, you for yourself, your heirs and assigns and anyone else acting on your behalf, hereby voluntarily, knowingly and irrevocably and
forever discharge the Company, each of its subsidiaries and affiliates, and their respective predecessors and successors, as well as each of their respective
present, former, and future officers, directors, shareholders, employees, and agents, in both their individual and representative capacities, and each of their
heirs and assigns (the “Releasees”) from all actions, claims , demands, causes of actions, obligations, damages, liabilities, expenses and controversies of any
nature whatsoever, whether known or not now known or suspected , which you had, have or may have against the Releasees from the beginning of time up to
and including the date you sign this Release (the “Waived Claims”). The Waived Claims that you forever and irrevocably give up and release when the
Release becomes effective include, but are not limited to, all claims related to (i) your employment at each of the Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates or
the termination of such employment, (ii) statements, acts or omissions by the Releasees, (iii) any express or implied agreement between you and the
Releasees, (iv) wrongful discharge, defamation, slander, breach of express or implied contract, negligent and/or intentional misrepresentation or infliction of
emotional distress, breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, claims of intentional or negligent interference with economic, employment, or
contractual rights or promissory estoppel, (v) any federal, state, or local law or regulation prohibiting discrimination in employment or otherwise regulating
employment, including but not limited to, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended (ADEA), the Older Worker Benefit Protections
Act, the Equal Pay Act of 1963, Title VII of the Civil Rights Acts of 1964, as amended, the Civil Rights Act of 199 1, the Family Medical Leave Act of 1993
(FMLA), the America ns with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA), the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938,
as amended, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA), as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section s 1981 through 1988, the Consolidated Omnibus
Reconciliation Act of 1986 (COBRA), the New York State Human Rights Law and the New York City Human Rights Act, the Florida Civil Rights Act, the
Florida Whistleblower Protection Act, the Florida Workers Compensation Retaliation provision, the Florida Minimum Wage Act, the Florida Fair Housing Act
and Article X, Section 24 of the Florida Constitution, (vi) any claim for wages, commissions, bonuses, incentive compensation, vacation pay, employee
benefits, expenses or allowances of any kind, or any other payment or compensation. You are not waiving any claims with respect to your rights to enforce
Sections 5, 6 and 7 of the Employment Agreement. You are not waiving or releasing any rights or claims that may arise after the date that you sign this
Release.
 
2.  Termination and Severance Benefits. The Release does not affect your vested rights and eligibility for benefits under the Company 401(k) Plan, or any
other employee benefit plan covered by ERISA (other than a severance plan). Eligibility for benefits under these plans is determined by the applicable plan
documents. The Release does not affect your right to reimbursement of expenses incurred but not reimbursed prior to the date you sign the Release, subject to
the Company’s expense reimbursement
policies. In particular, this Release shall not affect your right to the payment provided in Sections 5, 6 and 7 of the Employment Agreement.
 
3. No Suit. This Release does not impair any rights you have to file a charge of discrimination with a federal or state administrative agency; provided,
however, that you acknowledge and agree that neither you nor your heirs, executors, administrators, successors or assigns will be entitled to any personal
recovery in any proceeding of any nature whatsoever against the Releasees arising out of any of the matters released in Section 1. You represent and warrant
that as of the date hereof, you nor anyone acting on your behalf has made or filed, commenced, maintained, prosecuted or participated in any action, suit,
charge, grievance, complaint or proceeding of any kind against the Company, any subsidiary or affiliate thereof, and/or Releasees in any federal, state or local
court, agency or investigative body.
 
4. Representations. You acknowledge and agree that:
 
(a)  You have read and fully understand the legal effect and binding nature of the promises and obligations contained in this Release;
 
(b) You are executing this Release freely and voluntarily;
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(c)  You have been advised to consult with legal counsel, at your own expense, before signing this Release;
 
(d) You are receiving benefits as a condition to signing this Release and it becoming effective that you would not otherwise be entitled to receive but for this
Release becoming effective;
 
(e)  You have not, during the term of your employment under the Employment Agreement or thereafter performed any act, or directed any other person or
entity to perform any act on your or their behalf, the intended or proximate result of which would constitute a violation of the covenants to be performed by
you referred to or set forth in the Employment Agreement, nor are there any agreements, arrangements, or understandings, written or oral, that would, if
performed or acted upon, constitute such a violation;
 
(f)   There are no promises or representations that have been made to you to sign this Release except those that are included in the Employment Agreement and
this Release; and
 
(g)  You have 21 days to consider this Release, although you may sign it sooner, and once you sign this Release, you have 7 days to revoke your consent to
this Release. Any such revocation shall be made in writing by hand delivery, email, or overnight courier so as to be received by the Company prior to (or if by
overnight courier, on or prior to) the 8th day following your execution of this Release; and if no such revocation occurs, this Release shall become fully
effective on the 8th day following your execution of this Release. In the event that you do not sign within such 21-day period or you revoke your consent as
permitted above, this Release shall be null and void.
 
5. Employment Agreement. You further acknowledge and agree that the following provisions of the Employment Agreement are incorporated by reference
into this Release as if fully set forth herein: 9 (Covenants), 10 (Severability), 11 (Specific Performance) and 12 (Miscellaneous). You hereby reaffirm such
sections and acknowledge and agree that such sections shall survive the termination of your employment for whatever reason and continue as set forth in the
Employment Agreement.
 
6. No Admission. This Release is not an admission of any liability or wrongdoing by you, the Company and/or any Releasee.
 
7. No Reinstatement. By entering into this Agreement, you acknowledge that you (i) waive any claim to reinstatement and/or future employment with the
Company or any subsidiary or affiliate and (ii) are not and shall not be entitled to any payments, benefits or other obligations from the Company or any
subsidiary or affiliate thereof whatsoever (except as expressly set forth herein).
 
 
Your signature below acknowledges that you knowingly and voluntarily agree to all of the terms and conditions contained in this Release.

 
 
 
Executive: __________________________________ Date: ____________________
 __________________________________  
   
   
 
FORWARD INDUSTRIES, INC.  
By:  [_____________________________________________] Date: ______________________
[Name]       [Position]  
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Exhibit 23.1
 
 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration File No. 333- 253461) of Forward Industries, Inc., of our
report on our audits of the consolidated financial statements of Forward Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries as of and for the years ended September 30, 2021 and
2020, dated December 16, 2021, which report appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Forward Industries, Inc. for the year ended September 30, 2021.
 
/s/ CohnReznick LLP
 
Melville, New York
December 16, 2021
 
 



Exhibit 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 
I, Terence Wise, certify that:
 

1.       I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Forward Industries, Inc.;
 

2.       Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 

3.       Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.       The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
 

a)       Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 

b)       Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 

c)       Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d)       Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5.       The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)       All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

b)       Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: December 16, 2021
 
/s/ Terence Wise
Terence Wise
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
 
I, Anthony Camarda, certify that:
 

1.       I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Forward Industries, Inc.;
 

2.       Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 

3.       Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.       The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the registrant and have:
 

a)       Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 

b)       Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 

c)       Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

d)       Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5.       The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)       All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

b)       Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
 
Date: December 16, 2021
 
/s/ Anthony Camarda
Anthony Camarda
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
 
In connection with the annual report of Forward Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Terence Wise, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 

1. The annual report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
 

2. The information contained in the annual report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 
 

/s/ Terence Wise
Terence Wise
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
Dated: December 16, 2021
 
 
 
 
 
In connection with the annual report of Forward Industries, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Anthony Camarda, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
 

1. The annual report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
 

2. The information contained in the annual report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 
/s/ Anthony Camarda
Anthony Camarda
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Dated: December 16, 2021
 
 


